

Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

Science of the Total Environment



journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/scitotenv

Review

Autonomous marine environmental monitoring: Application in decommissioned oil fields



Daniel O.B. Jones *, Andrew R. Gates, Veerle A.I. Huvenne, Alexander B. Phillips, Brian J. Bett

National Oceanography Centre, University of Southampton Waterfront Campus, Southampton SO14 3ZH, UK

HIGHLIGHTS

G R A P H I C A L A B S T R A C T

- Decommissioning will impact the marine environment at a global scale.
- Environmental monitoring of decommissioning activities helps mitigate impacts.
- Marine autonomous systems could automate much environmental monitoring.
- Autonomy provides cost savings and improved spatial and temporal resolution.
- Trade-offs exist between efficiency and comparison to conventional approaches.



ARTICLE INFO

Article history: Received 29 October 2018 Received in revised form 19 February 2019 Accepted 19 February 2019 Available online 22 February 2019

Editor: Kevin V. Thomas

Keywords: Survey Oil and gas Infrastructure Observatories Marine autonomous systems AUV Glider Rigs to reefs

ABSTRACT

Hundreds of Oil & Gas Industry structures in the marine environment are approaching decommissioning. In most areas decommissioning operations will need to be supported by environmental assessment and monitoring, potentially over the life of any structures left in place. This requirement will have a considerable cost for industry and the public. Here we review approaches for the assessment of the primary operating environments associated with decommissioning – namely structures, pipelines, cuttings piles, the general seabed environment and the water column – and show that already available marine autonomous systems (MAS) offer a wide range of solutions for this major monitoring challenge. Data of direct relevance to decommissioning can be collected using acoustic, visual, and oceanographic sensors deployed on MAS. We suggest that there is considerable potential for both cost savings and a substantial improvement in the temporal and spatial resolution of environmental monitoring. MAS have the potential to successfully carry out much of the monitoring associated with decommissioning and to offer viable alternatives where a direct match for the conventional approach is not possible.

© 2019 The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

* Corresponding author.

E-mail address: dj1@noc.ac.uk (D.O.B. Jones).

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scitotenv.2019.02.310 0048-9697/© 2019 The Authors. Published by Elsevier B.V. This is an open access article under the CC BY license (http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/).

Contents

1.	Introduction						
2.	2. Areas of interest for environmental monitoring						
	2.1. Structures		839				
	2.2. Pipelines		839				
	2.3. Near-field seabed		839				
	2.4. Far-field seabed		842				
	2.5. Water column		842				
3.	Autonomous systems for decommissioning monitoring		842				
	3.1. Underwater gliders		842				
	3.2. Autonomous underwater vehicles		842				
	3.3. Unmanned surface vehicles		843				
	3.4. Fixed-point observatories		843				
	3.5. Seabed landing and crawling autonomous vehicles		843				
4.	MAS sensors for monitoring decommissioning		843				
	4.1. Geoacoustic sensors		843				
	4.2. Visual sensors		844				
	4.3. Oceanographic sensors		844				
	4.4. Water column acoustics		845				
5.	MAS data for monitoring decommissioning		845				
	5.1. Geoacoustic data		845				
	5.2. Visual data		845				
	5.3. Oceanographic data		845				
	5.4. Sound and noise data		846				
	5.5. Active acoustic water column data		846				
	5.6. Data quality and management		846				
6.	Trade-offs between MAS and other approaches		847				
7 Prospect - basin-scale integrated monitoring							
8.	Conclusions		848				
Acknowledgements							
Refe	eferences		848				
•••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••							

1. Introduction

There are 475 oil & gas (O&G) installations in UK seas that will have to be decommissioned as a result of OSPAR Decision 98/3 (Oil and Gas UK, 2014). By 2018, over 50 of these will be approaching or entering decommissioning. The OSPAR Convention prohibits the dumping, and leaving wholly or partly in place, of most offshore installations, although some large structures are exempted (derogation cases; OSPAR decision 98/3). The technical approaches for decommissioning are becoming better understood, but are still being developed on a case-by-case basis. The environmental consequences of decommissioning decisions are relatively poorly known, can cause great controversy, and appear to have the potential for cumulative impacts over a broad scale (Owen and Rice, 2003; Jørgensen, 2012).

Pollutants, including oil, other chemicals, and radioactive residues, that can be associated with O&G industry infrastructure were of primary concern during the controversy that surrounded the decommissioning of the Brent Spar in the mid-1990s (Owen and Rice, 2003). Furthermore, significant accumulations of drilling-related sediments, or cuttings piles, lie underneath many oil and gas installations, and may be contaminated with oil and other chemicals (Henry et al., 2017). These cuttings piles represent a disturbance of the natural seabed system, alter faunal communities, and lead to changes in the functioning of seabed ecosystems (Trannum et al., 2010). They also represent a potential hazard for the future as currently stable piles containing harmful chemicals could be remobilised and redistributed. Structures in the marine environment, including O&G installations, can also have potentially positive impacts on marine ecology, providing habitat for animals that require hard surfaces (Forteath et al., 1982), focusing local production and/or biomass of fish and seafloor animals (Claisse et al., 2014), and by acting as stepping stones to connect dispersed populations of some species (Thorpe, 2012). For example, many North Sea structures are rapidly colonised and typically develop a high biomass ecosystem that may include conservation priority species, such as the cold-water coral *Lophelia pertusa* (Gass and Roberts, 2006), recently synonymised with *Desmophyllum pertusum* (Horton et al., 2019). It has also been suggested that the network of structures could also facilitate biological invasions (Glasby et al., 2007).

Decommissioning of obsolete O&G infrastructure is identified as an increasing source of chemical contaminants entering the marine environment from marine sources (Tornero and Hanke, 2016). Removal of structures has the potential for impacts in the water column through resuspension of contaminated sediment (Schroeder and Love, 2004), including toxic oil-based drilling mud (Ekins et al., 2006), or through leaching of contaminants such as PCBs, residual oil, heavy metals, and other toxic substances as structures corrode (Tornero and Hanke, 2016). The underwater noise (including explosions) likely to be associated with decommissioning has potential impacts on cetaceans, fish (Schroeder and Love, 2004), and seabed invertebrates (Solan et al., 2016).

To understand and manage the environmental impacts of decommissioning, regulations make specific requirements on operating companies for environmental monitoring and assessment. The UK Guidance Notes (DGN: BEIS, 2018) issued by the Department for Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS) state that decommissioning programmes will need to be supported by an Environmental Appraisal or Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA). In addition, OSPAR Derogation cases will need to be surveyed and monitored for environmental and structural conditions for their entire lifespan, which could be hundreds of years (Sandberg, 1996; Quigel and Thornton, 1989). The European Marine Board (2017) highlights the need for scientific input to "provide a greater evidence base in assessing potential impacts and determining good practice for the decommissioning of offshore installations". Given the large number of impending decommissioning cases, there is a clear need for a highly efficient survey and monitoring procedure that limits potential costs but also fits the regulators' needs.

The traditional methods of marine monitoring, used during the development of the UK O&G industry, are now being supplemented by new, often automated monitoring techniques (Bean et al., 2017). Advances in marine autonomy offer the prospect of enhanced data collection and substantial efficiency gains over current practice, but now require the development of effective and efficient approaches for decommissioning monitoring.

Effective evaluation of impacts is aided by clear guidance on the most relevant environmental factors to consider. The Global Ocean Observing System (GOOS) sets out essential ocean variables (EOVs), parameters that are feasible to measure across platforms and provide relevant information for conservation and management (Miloslavich et al., 2018). In Europe, the Marine Strategy Framework Directive sets out 11 descriptors of Good Environmental Status (GES) for European marine waters (MSFD, 2008). These may be useful to consider in evaluating the optimal approach for monitoring associated with decommissioning (Table 1). Decommissioning has particular potential to impact on several of the GES descriptors. For example: seabed integrity will be disrupted, which may change the functioning of the ecosystem (descriptor 6); underwater noise (descriptor 11) will increase in decommissioning cases; removal of long-term structures from the seafloor and water column will impact the water flow patterns (Cripps and Aabel, 2002) (descriptor 7); and changing three dimensional structure that has been acknowledged to support fish assemblages (Claisse et al., 2014; Fowler and Booth, 2012) may have implications for maintenance of biodiversity (descriptor 1) and commercial fish populations (descriptor 3).

Unmanned, self-contained systems (which we refer to as being "autonomous") have been used to monitor the marine environment for over a century (e.g. Ekman recording current meter; Sverdrup et al., 1942). The greatest revolution in marine autonomous systems (MAS), to date, started with the Swallow float (Swallow, 1955) and led to the global ocean autonomous monitoring network "Argo", an array of c. 4000 autonomous sensor systems now surveying the upper 2000 m of the world's ocean (e.g. Medhaug et al., 2017). These 'simple' floats have further evolved to sophisticated particle sensing and

capturing instruments (Lampitt et al., 2008), and to highly successful underwater gliders (e.g. Rudnick et al., 2004). The last two decades have seen a dramatic rise in the numbers and types of autonomous systems operating in the marine environment, and in the types of sensors these systems now carry (Wynn et al., 2014). Autonomy lends itself well to cost-effective long-term and large-scale monitoring programmes, and is important in a variety of contexts (Danovaro et al., 2016). The basin-wide decommissioning of North Sea O&G infrastructure may be an important case in point. The environmental monitoring of these activities presents a challenge with the standard approaches used that can be solved for the future using MAS.

Here we suggest possible approaches to integrating cost-effective autonomous monitoring of the safety and environmental status of decommissioned structures and their environs into industry practice. The monitoring requirement for decommissioning is potentially huge, with standard time-series monitoring programmes and monitoring "in perpetuity" of many structures and contaminated sites requiring very considerable ship time. Autonomous systems provide a potentially low-cost high-quality solution for repeat assessment (e.g. Wynn et al., 2014). This paper will assess monitoring of decommissioned structures (platforms, wellheads and pipelines), the surrounding seabed (including cuttings piles), and the water column, through the use of autonomous systems. The paper reviews the potential autonomous systems and sensors used, the data they provide for environmental monitoring and discusses trade-offs between MAS and traditional approaches.

2. Areas of interest for environmental monitoring

Oil and gas operations introduce artificial structures into the environment (Fig. 1), such as complex three-dimensional structures and pipelines, which regularly extend for tens of kilometres (de Groot, 1982). These structures have the potential to influence both the seabed and water column in the vicinity of operations and beyond. In this section, we briefly introduce the main types of oil field infrastructure; provide an overview of the operating environment, focusing on the North Sea; summarise decommissioning activities; and provide some context

Table 1

Marine Strategy Framework Directive (MSFD) descriptors of good environmental status, possible outcomes after decommissioning, and potential for monitoring with autonomous systems.

MSFD	Descriptor	Decommissioning	Autonomous monitoring ^a
1	Biodiversity is maintained	Removal of structures leads to local loss of epigrowth species; local infauna returns to natural	Monitor visible benthos by AUV (spatial) and FPO (temporal)
2	Non-indigenous species do not adversely alter the ecosystem	Return to natural; loss of non-indigenous epigrowth species	AUV visual monitoring of remaining artificial hard substratum habitats and presence of non-indigenous species
3	The population of commercial fish species is healthy	Loss of local aggregations, return to natural; loss of refugia for commercially important species	Visual monitoring of demersal (AUV, FPO) and pelagic (FPO) species; acoustic assessment of pelagic species (AUV, glider, USV, FPO)
4	Elements of food webs ensure long-term abundance and reproduction	Loss of local aggregations/biomass, return to natural; local change in trophic interactions	As MSFD 1 and 3
5	Eutrophication is minimised	Reduced local eutrophication by removal of epigrowth community; potential local eutrophication increase by cuttings pile disturbance	As MSFD 1 and water column biogeochemisty (AUV, glider, FPO)
6	The sea floor integrity ensures functioning of the ecosystem	Physical disturbance of the seafloor	As MSFD 1 and 5, and geophysical mapping (AUV, USV)
7	Permanent alteration of hydrographical conditions does not adversely affect the ecosystem	Return to natural	As MSFD 5 and 6
8	Concentrations of contaminants give no effects	Mobilisation/remobilisation of contaminants; accidental discharges	Overwatch by satellite, and USV, glider, AUV, FPO standard sensors (as MSFD 5); alert physical sampling need where persistent anomaly detected
9	Contaminants in seafood are below safe levels	Risk of food chain transfer from mobilisation/remobilisation of contaminants	No autonomous measurement. Risk awareness via MSFD 5 and 8
10	Marine litter does not cause harm	Return to natural	As MSFD 1
11	Introduction of energy (including underwater noise) does not adversely affect the ecosystem	Return to natural (short-term impact only)	Passive acoustics monitoring (FPO) during decommissioning operations; continued monitoring via additional means (USV, glider) readily achieved.

^a AUV, autonomous underwater vehicle; FPO, fixed-point observatory; USV, unmanned surface vehicle.



Fig. 1. Photographs showing examples of habitats and impacts under consideration (photographs taken by the authors at active hydrocarbon drilling sites).

for the relevant environmental monitoring requirements (which are presented in Table 2).

2.1. Structures

North Sea O&G structures have been in place since the 1960s to serve drilling and production operations. They are of two basic types: gravity based structures (GBS; e.g. Shell Brent B) and steel jackets (e.g. BP Miller). GBS can be extremely large (e.g. Statoil Troll A is 472 m tall, weighing 683,600 t), however, steel jackets are the most common, at >200 compared to 8 GBS platforms (UK Oil and Gas Authority, 2016). Deep-water fields typically do not use platforms, instead using subsea infrastructure connected via a riser pipe to surface vessels or connected to other facilities via seafloor pipelines (Cordes et al., 2016). In the North Sea, structures are rapidly colonised (Bell and Smith, 1999) and typically develop a highly productive ecosystem, e.g. ~2700 tons of marine life have been estimated to live on the Shell Brent Alpha platform (Shell UK, 2017), including conservation priority species such as Lophelia pertusa. These structures also likely increase, or at least focus, fish production (Claisse et al., 2014), surrounding benthic biomass, diversity, and connectivity (Macreadie et al., 2011).

A range of options exist for the decommissioning of O&G structures, each of which have different financial, environmental, legal, and technological consequences (Schroeder and Love, 2004). Typical options include (a) leaving the structure unaltered in its current location; (b) toppling the platform; (c) partially dismantling the structure in its current location (for platforms this is usually through "topping" - the removal of only the upper portion of the platform); (d) relocating the structure either to another marine location or to shore for recycling/disposal (Macreadie et al., 2011; Fowler et al., 2018). In the OSPAR area, the assumption is that structures will be removed unless there are specific technical barriers to this (OSPAR decision 98/3), which are listed in annex 1 of the OSPAR decision document (derogation cases). Two UK installations have already received government approval for decommissioning programmes with derogation from OSPAR 98/3, these are NW Hutton, operated by BP, and Frigg MCP01, operated by Total. Several other installations (8 GBS, 31 large steel jackets) and pipelines (>5000 km) are likely to apply for OSPAR derogation owing to their size and/or the difficulty of safe removal (FLTC, 2018). The legal regime for decommissioning is highly variable across jurisdictions globally, leading to major differences in regional practice. For example, in the US Gulf of Mexico, some 200+ structures were left in place (usually unaltered, toppled or moved to a dedicated location) between 1987 and 2006 under the "rigs-to-reefs" programme (Kaiser and Pulsipher, 2005), while in the OSPAR area almost all of the 129 installations decommissioned by 2012 were removed (Jørgensen, 2012).

There will be a need for an environmental assessment of plans for decommissioning of structures, which will need to evaluate the results of recent (within 5 years) environmental baseline/monitoring surveys around the installations to be decommissioned (DECC, 2011). Consideration of the long-term impacts of the decommissioning will be required as will specific plans for emergencies (e.g. oil release). The monitoring requirements for decommissioning are generally not stipulated in detail and need to be developed in consultation with the relevant authority (BEIS Offshore Decommissioning Unit in the UK). In the UK, there is a minimum requirement for debris surveys and post-decommissioning environmental seabed sampling to monitor levels of hydrocarbons, heavy metals and other contaminants in sediments and biota (DECC, 2011). Across Europe, there is also a requirement to consider whether the decommissioning will have a significant effect on species covered by the EC Habitats Directive, for example the cold-water coral Lophelia pertusa, and the reef-forming worm Sabellaria, which commonly grow on or near North Sea structures. There may be a requirement to conduct surveys to establish whether such species or habitats are present and to what extent (DECC, 2011).

2.2. Pipelines

There are >45,000 km of pipeline in the North Sea, ranging from 1.1 m diameter, surface laid trunk-lines, to umbilicals and power cables (5-20 cm diameter; Oil and Gas UK, 2013). The narrower diameter pipelines are commonly trenched and buried, with an estimated 35-40 thousand subsea protective mattresses, grout bags and rock baskets protecting sections of pipeline in the North Sea (Oil and Gas UK, 2013). Pipelines provide habitat for a range of marine species. Local fish abundance can be significantly higher on pipelines than surrounding seabed (Love and York, 2005), with the increased habitat heterogeneity potentially supporting particular species and enhancing biodiversity (Mclean et al., 2017). Tracking studies show that pipeline routes are targeted by marine mammals for foraging (Russell et al., 2014) and by commercial fishing operations (Rouse et al., 2018). Pipeline rupture has obvious environmental impacts, however, their routine presence can lead to ongoing environmental concerns, particularly related to contaminants introduced from corrosion of the pipeline or its covering materials.

Various options for pipeline decommissioning have been suggested, from leaving in situ with minimal intervention, to total removal (Oil and Gas UK, 2013). Protective structures are to be considered for removal with the aim to achieve a clear seabed. If this is not the optimal solution, alternative options should not interfere with other users of the sea. In the UK, DECC guidance (2011) and the BEIS guidance (2018) indicates that post-decommissioning surveys should extend 100 m either side of the pipeline, with a follow-up survey a year later. As with any decommissioned infrastructure, liability rests with the owner in perpetuity (UK Petroleum Act 1998).

2.3. Near-field seabed

The seabed in the proximity of O&G platforms has typically been exposed to a variety of impacts over the decades of life of the platform. Characteristically, drill cuttings piles are present, formed by the deposition of rock cuttings and drilling mud (clays, barite suspended in fluid such as oil, brine or water) onto or near the seabed (Gerrard et al., 1999). Drilling muds were variously water-based, oil based (typical prior to 1992), or synthetic, and contained a range of other chemical constituents, such as emulsifiers, lubricants, viscosifiers and corrosion inhibitors (Neff, 2005). The sedimentary environment of cuttings piles is therefore typically contaminated with hydrocarbons and metals (Breuer et al., 2004). The initial 'smothering' of the seabed by cuttings deposition and subsequent contaminant-related effects generally resulted in reduced abundance and diversity of the local benthic community (meiofauna, Netto et al., 2009; macrofauna, Currie and Isaacs, 2005; megafauna, Jones et al., 2006, 2007). In the northern and central North Sea, cuttings pile effects extended to c. 1 km from the wells and persisted for at least 6-8 years, potentially longer if the pile was disturbed (Henry et al., 2017). In deeper waters, the effects may be detectable for years to decades (Jones et al., 2012; Gates and Jones, 2012; Cordes et al., 2016). In contrast, in shallower waters (e.g. Southern North Sea), where distinct cuttings piles may not form because of stronger currents (Breuer et al., 2004), impacts on the fauna may be essentially undetectable (Henry et al., 2017).

The options for decommissioning of cuttings piles include (i) leaving them in situ; (ii) treating them in situ, for example through dispersal, dredging, burial or capping; or (iii) removal, and then reinjection into existing wells or shipping ashore for treatment (Gerrard et al., 1999). Most comparative assessments done to date, favour leaving cuttings piles in situ and minimising disturbance during decommissioning operations (e.g. Shell UK Ltd., 2016; CNR International, 2017). This option is likely to require the most intensive post-decommissioning survey, especially as potentially harmful levels of hydrocarbons could be released through leaching or if these cuttings piles are disturbed by natural (e.g. storms) or anthropogenic events (e.g. fishing). Coordinated

Table 2

Summary and comparison of established methods, and potential autonomous methods, for decommissioning monitoring. For simplicity, some cases are presented as near-field (visually impacted with potential presence of structures) and far-field (distant from operations with no history of infrastructure in place). AUV: autonomous underwater vehicle; FPO: fixed-point observatory; FW UAV: fixed-wing unmanned aerial vehicle; NDT: non-destructive testing (evaluating the condition of subsea equipment); USV: unmanned surface vehicle; ROV: remotely operated vehicle.

Area of interest	Characteristic	Purpose	Established method	Established indicator	Autonomous method	Most similar indicator from autonomous approach	Comparability of indicators
Structures	Physical location & morphology	Safety of operations; monitoring of derogation	Acoustic and visual survey, diver/ROV	Bathymetry and imagery	Visual & acoustic survey by (hover) AUV; acoustic survey by USV	Bathymetry and imagery	Common instrumentation
	Physical integrity	Safety of operations; monitoring of derogation	Visual/NDT surveys by diver/ROV	Observable/detectable deterioration or damage	Visual/NDT survey by (hover) AUV	Observable/detectable deterioration or damage	Common instrumentation
	Biological epigrowth	Structural integrity; biological effects	Visual survey by diver/ROV	Areal (%) cover/estimated biomass	Visual survey by (hover) AUV	Areal (%) cover/estimated biomass	Common instrumentation
	Aggregation of mobile species	Biological effects	Acoustic/visual survey from surface vessel (diver/ROV)	Abundance and composition of mobile species (fish/mammals)	Acoustic/visual survey from USV, (hover) AUV, FPO	Abundance and composition of mobile species (fish/mammals)	(Largely) common instrumentation
Pipelines (rock dumps and mattresses)	Physical location & morphology	Safety of operations; monitoring of derogation cases	Visual, acoustic & magnetic survey from surface vessel (tow-body/ROV)	Bathymetry, magnetometry and imagery	Visual, acoustic & magnetic survey by (cruise/hover) AUV, USV option in shallow water	Bathymetry, magnetometry and imagery	Common instrumentation
,	Physical integrity	Safety of operations; monitoring of derogation cases	Visual, acoustic & NDT survey from surface vessel (diver/ROV)	Observable/detectable deterioration or damage	Visual, acoustic & NDT survey by (hover) AUV; acoustic survey by USV (shallow)	Observable/detectable deterioration or damage	Common instrumentation
	Chemical composition of sediments	Monitoring sediment contaminants	Physical sampling from surface vessel	Laboratory assessment (e.g. hydrocarbons, metals)	Sediment penetrating sensor survey by (crawling) AUV, or possibly FPO	Not established	Sensor data may be limited to water column/pore water only
	Sediment characteristics	Monitoring physical changes to the sediment	Visual and acoustic survey from surface vessel (tow-body/diver/ROV); physical sampling	Visual/acoustic description; particle size data from samples	Visual and acoustic survey by AUV; acoustic survey by USV	Visual/acoustic description	Common instrumentation for visual and acoustic data; sampling not possible
	Sediment fauna	Biological effects	Primarily physical sampling from surface vessel; some visual assessment (ROV)	Typically macrofaunal abundance and composition; some visual surveys of epibenthos	Visual survey by (cruise/hover) AUV; visual monitoring from FPO	Epibenthos abundance and composition	Biodiversity metrics, but not for macrofauna
	Biological epigrowth	Biological effects	Visual survey by diver/ROV from surface vessel	Areal (%) cover/estimated biomass	Visual survey by (hover) AUV	Areal (%) cover/estimated biomass	Common instrumentation
	Aggregation of mobile species	Biological effects	Visual/acoustic survey from surface vessel (tow-body/ROV)	Abundance and composition of mobile species (e.g. large invertebrates/fish)	Visual/acoustic survey by (cruise/hover) AUV, acoustic surveys from USV or AUV	Abundance and composition of mobile species (e.g. large invertebrates/fish)	Common instrumentation
Near-field seabed (cuttings piles)	Physical location & morphology	Monitoring seabed/cuttings pile condition and extent	Acoustic survey from surface vessel	Bathymetry and backscatter amplitude (sidescan)	Acoustic survey by (cruise/hover) AUV or USV	Bathymetry and backscatter amplitude (sidescan)	Common instrumentation
	Surface physical integrity	Monitoring post-decommissioning disturbance (subsidence, trawling) and erosion	Visual & acoustic survey from surface vessel (tow-body/diver/ROV)	Bathymetry, backscatter amplitude (sidescan) and imagery	Visual & acoustic survey by (cruise/hover) AUV (USV option in shallow water)	Bathymetry, backscatter amplitude (sidescan) and imagery	Common instrumentation
	Subsurface physical integrity	Monitoring seabed/cuttings pile condition and extent; monitoring potential fluid/cediment movement	Acoustic survey from surface vessel (tow-body)	Sub-bottom profiling	Acoustic survey by (cruise/hover) AUV (USV option in shallow water)	Sub-bottom profiling	Common instrumentation
	Chemical composition	Monitoring sediment contaminants	Physical sampling from surface vessel	Laboratory assessment (e.g. hydrocarbons, metals)	Sediment penetrating sensor survey by (crawling) AUV, or possibly FPO	Not established	Sensor data may be limited to water column/pore water only

	Sediment characteristics	Monitoring physical changes to the sediment	Visual and acoustic survey from surface vessel (tow-body/diver/ROV); physical sampling	Visual/acoustic description; particle size data from samples	Visual and acoustic survey by AUV; acoustic survey by USV	Visual/acoustic description	Common instrumentation for visual and acoustic data; sampling not possible
	Sediment fauna	Biological effects	Primarily physical sampling from surface vessel; some visual assessment (ROV)	Typically macrofaunal abundance and composition; some visual surveys of epibenthos	Visual survey by (cruise/hover) AUV; visual monitoring from FPO	Epibenthos abundance and composition	Biodiversity metrics, but not for macrofauna
	Epifaunal communities	Biological effects	Visual survey (tow-body/diver/ROV) from surface vessel; some limited physical sampling (trawl/ROV)	Epifaunal abundance and composition	Visual survey by (cruise/hover) AUV; visual monitoring from FPO	Epifaunal abundance and composition	Common instrumentation or comparable data
	Aggregation of mobile species	Biological effects	Visual/acoustic survey from surface vessel (tow-body/ROV)	Abundance and composition of mobile species (e.g. large invertebrates/fish)	Visual/acoustic survey by (cruise/hover) AUV, acoustic surveys from USV or AUV; visual monitoring from FPO	Abundance and composition of mobile species (e.g. large invertebrates/fish)	Common instrumentation
Water column	Oceanography	Primary environmental characterisation	Moored (FPO) and ship-deployed instruments.	Temperature, salinity, oxygen, pH, turbidity, current speed etc.	Sensors deployed by glider, AUV or FPO	Temperature, salinity, oxygen, pH, turbidity, current speed etc.	Common instrumentation
	Water quality (chemical contamination)	Monitoring contaminants	Physical sampling and sensors from surface vessel; in situ ecotoxicology	Contaminant concentration	Sensor deployment by glider, (cruise/hover) AUV; USV, FPO; very limited sampling capacity	Contaminant concentration or proxy value	Largely sensor only; limited sampling capability
	Zooplankton	Biological effects	Physical sampling, acoustic/visual survey from surface vessel (tow-body/ROV)	Zooplankton abundance and composition	Visual and acoustic survey by (cruise/hover) AUV, FPO and USV (acoustic)	Zooplankton abundance and composition	Common instrumentation for visual and acoustic methods; limited sampling capability
	Fish	Biological effects	Physical sampling, acoustic and visual survey from surface vessel (tow-body/ROV)	Pelagic fish abundance and composition	Visual and acoustic survey by (cruise/hover) AUV, FPO and USV (acoustic)	Pelagic fish abundance and composition	Common instrumentation for acoustic and visual methods; no sampling capability
	Marine mammals	Biological effects	Visual survey; passive acoustic monitoring	Marine mammal abundance and composition	Visual survey by UAV; passive acoustic survey by AUV/USV/FPO	Marine mammal abundance and composition	Potentially comparable visual survey data; common instrumentation for passive acoustics
Far-field seabed	Surface physical integrity	Monitoring post-decommissioning disturbance (subsidence, trawling) and erosion	Visual & acoustic survey from surface vessel (tow-body/diver/ROV)	Bathymetry, backscatter amplitude (sidescan) and imagery	Visual & acoustic survey by (cruise/hover) AUV (USV option in shallow water)	Bathymetry, backscatter amplitude (sidescan) and imagery	Common instrumentation
	Subsurface physical integrity	Monitoring potential gas/oil seepage	Acoustic survey from surface vessel (tow-body)	Sub-bottom profiling	Acoustic survey by (cruise/hover) AUV (USV option in shallow water)	Sub-bottom profiling	Common instrumentation
	Chemical composition	Monitoring sediment contaminants	Physical sampling from surface vessel	Laboratory assessment (e.g. hydrocarbons, metals)	Sediment penetrating sensor survey by (crawling) AUV, or possibly FPO	Not established	Sensor data may be limited to water column/pore water only
	Sediment characteristics	Monitoring physical changes to the sediment	Visual and acoustic survey from surface vessel (tow-body/diver/ROV); physical sampling	Visual/acoustic description; particle size data from samples	Visual and acoustic survey by AUV; acoustic survey by USV	Visual/acoustic description	Common instrumentation for visual and acoustic data; sampling not possible
	Sediment fauna	Biological effects	Primarily physical sampling from surface vessel; some visual assessment	Typically macrofaunal abundance and composition; some visual	Visual survey by (cruise/hover) AUV; visual monitoring from FPO	Epibenthos abundance and composition	Biodiversity metrics, but not for macrofauna
	Epifaunal communities	Biological effects	(tow-body/diver/ROV) Visual survey (tow-body/diver/ROV) from surface vessel; some limited physical sampling (trawl/ROV)	surveys of epibenthos Epifaunal abundance and composition	Visual survey by (cruise/hover) AUV; visual monitoring from FPO	Epifaunal abundance and composition	Common instrumentation or comparable data

monitoring across many sites may be necessary periodically over many years.

2.4. Far-field seabed

The seabed distant from O&G operations is likely a key environmental monitoring target, serving as a 'control' with which to compare both local impacts and temporal change post-decommissioning. The seafloor environment of the North Sea is heterogeneous, encompassing several major gradients: water depth, sedimentology, water column mixing, and organic matter supply (Basford and Eleftheriou, 1988; Dyer et al., 1983; Bricheno et al., 2015). Nevertheless, coherent benthic assemblages can be identified (Basford et al., 1990), as can broadscale biogeographic variations (Heip and Craeymeersch, 1995). It is a dynamic system subject to seasonal change (Hiddink et al., 2015), where the benthos are also known to respond to longer-term climate cycles (Dippner et al., 2014; Birchenough et al., 2015; see Section 2.5). The North Sea benthos are subject to numerous other impacts, not least demersal fishing (Kaiser, 1998). Monitoring should follow the same approach as for near-field operations. However, distinguishing impacts and recovery post-decommissioning will be complex and likely require a broadscale and long-term approach that acknowledges other impacts, biogeographic variation, and climaterelated change.

2.5. Water column

The water column immediately surrounding O&G installations may have locally enhanced biomass (Claisse et al., 2014), including commercially important species (Fujii, 2015). Evidence suggests that marine mammals may utilise these localised stocks as a food resource (Todd et al., 2009). Consequently, removal of O&G infrastructure will diffuse these local aggregations to the background populations or to other comparable physical habitats. Post-decommissioning, other impacts might include seabed (cuttings pile; section 2.3), and near-seabed (any remaining physical infrastructure; section 2.1) impacts, release of contaminants, e.g. metals, hydrocarbons, and other organic chemicals (Shimmield et al., 2000). It is conceivable that there may be some residual reefing effects, where some infrastructure is left in place, but this is expected to be minor.

Any release of contaminants at or near-seabed in the near-field environment (section 2.3) will be likely rapidly diffused to the background/ far-field water column. Conventional approaches for oceanographic assessment, such as Niskin bottle sampling or sensor-based water column assessment (e.g. CTD), can be used to monitor changes in a wide range of parameters, including physical, chemical and biological. Water column monitoring was often considered lower priority than benthic assessment in typical industry surveys, but is now receiving increased attention (Nilssen and Bakke, 2011) and may be important in decommissioning applications. Water column monitoring is typically split into environmental effects monitoring, which examines effects on caged organisms, and environmental condition monitoring, which relates to temporal and spatial measurement of water column conditions (Nilssen and Bakke, 2011). As noted in the far-field seabed case (section 2.4), biological effects monitoring is likely to be complicated by the known impact of long-term climate cycles, e.g. North Atlantic Oscillation and Atlantic Multidecadal Oscillation, on the North Sea pelagic system and fish stocks (Gröger et al., 2010; Auber et al., 2015); again suggesting the need for a broadscale and long-term monitoring approach.

3. Autonomous systems for decommissioning monitoring

The capability and use of marine autonomous systems (MAS) has increased rapidly in recent years, enabling oceanographic observations at spatial and temporal scales impossible from traditional ships (Rudnick et al., 2004; Hartman et al., 2012). MAS are increasingly applied in marine geoscience (Wynn et al., 2014), habitat mapping (Robert et al., 2014), and benthic ecology (Morris et al., 2016). MAS can be divided

between static, fixed-point observatories (FPO; Cristini et al., 2016), and a variety of mobile platforms. The latter can be broadly split into underwater gliders, autonomous underwater vehicles (AUV), unmanned surface vehicles (USV), and seabed landing and crawling vehicles.

3.1. Underwater gliders

Gliders are driven by a buoyancy engine, and capable of long deployments (months) covering large areas or time-series observations at particular locations (Liblik et al., 2016). Gliders are slow moving (0.3 ms^{-1}) and their payload is limited to low-power sensors (<1 W). They travel forward in a "saw-tooth" or "yo-yo" dive profile, providing repeated water column profile data. When surfaced, GPS positioning, data transmission, and mission refinement messages can be sent via satellite (Rudnick, 2016). Gliders carry an increasingly diverse sensor payload, including depth, temperature, conductivity, depth average current, turbidity, fluorescence and acoustic energy. Underwater navigation is from dead reckoning relative to the water column and is often poor, so it is not possible to attribute sensor readings to precise locations. Given their low speed, gliders may be difficult to operate in strong currents. In decommissioning, gliders may have a role in demonstrating 'evidence of absence' or identifying local anomalies, e.g. increases in turbidity or fluorescence. Networks of vehicles could be used for tracking specific release events, such as hydrocarbons mobilised by cuttings pile disturbance during decommissioning (Reed and Hover, 2014). Gliders may also be a suitable platform for active (Guihen et al., 2014) or passive acoustic monitoring (Baumgartner et al., 2013; Mellinger et al., 2007) of the post-decommissioning environment.

3.2. Autonomous underwater vehicles

AUVs can be broadly classified as either 'survey-class' or 'hover-class' vehicles. The former are typically large (>1.5 m) torpedo-shaped vehicles driven by a single propeller (Huvenne et al., 2018), that require constant forward motion to maintain stability and manoeuvrability, and can reach speeds up to 2 ms^{-1} (Wynn et al., 2014). They are well suited to geographically precise survey work that requires long distances to be covered at constant speed (e.g. geoacoustic surveys). Hover-class vehicles have several propellers or thrusters to provide low speed full 3D manoeuvrability and may be operated in proximity to both natural (Monk et al., 2016) and artificial structures (Bingham et al., 2010) or over complex seabed terrain (Ferrari et al., 2016).

Underwater vehicles cannot navigate with direct reference to satellite positions, which can cause problems for accurate positioning (Paull et al., 2014). Dead-reckoning is usually used for navigation, based on an inertial navigation system and a doppler velocity log (DVL; Paull et al., 2014). This requires an initial position fix estimate and is subject to cumulative error, or drift over the dive track (Huvenne et al., 2018). The growth of this error can be limited by: (a) acoustically linking the AUV to a ship or USV to improve navigational accuracy (Phillips et al., 2018); (b) operating the AUV within an acoustic long baseline (LBL) system of fixed acoustic nodes (Paull et al., 2014); (c) utilising terrain aided navigation (TAN) where observed bathymetric features are compared to an a priori map (Salavasidis et al., 2018); or (d) simultaneous localisation and mapping (SLAM) where a map is built and used for localisation in real time from observed bathymetric features (Barkby et al., 2009). The moderate range of survey or hover-class vehicles mean they would typically be launched from a ship. Long range survey class AUVs, such as Autosub Long Range (Furlong et al., 2012; Roper et al., 2017), offer shore launch capabilities and multi-month endurance but have lower navigational accuracy and more limited power than typical survey- or hover-class AUVs.

Depending on payload and energy capacity, AUVs can be equipped with a wide range of sensors: acoustic systems (e.g. acoustic Doppler current profilers, multibeam echosounders, sidescan sonars, interferometric sonars, sub-bottom profilers, passive acoustic monitoring), geophysical tools (magnetometers, gravimeters), oceanographic sensors (conductivity, temperature, depth, oxygen, turbidity, fluorescence, pH, REDOX, etc.) and optical systems (conventional cameras, stereo cameras, laser scanners) (e.g. Caress et al., 2008; Connelly et al., 2012; Morris et al., 2014; Sumner et al., 2013; Williams et al., 2010; Yoerger et al., 1998). At present, AUVs have a very limited capacity for the collection of physical samples, largely restricted to relatively small volume water samples (Harvey et al., 2012; Pennington et al., 2016), though note that other samplers are in development and field testing is ongoing, for example for a zooplankton sampler equivalent in performance to a high-specification towed net system (Billings et al., 2017).

In decommissioning-related environmental monitoring, AUVs have capability for detailed acoustic mapping and visual inspection of structures (Robert et al., 2017) and cuttings piles (Gerrard et al., 1999), sensor-based assessment of chemical contaminant and suspended solid concentrations (Camilli et al., 2010), photographic assessments of benthic and pelagic marine life (Morris et al., 2016; Pedersen et al., 2010), and acoustic determination of fish and marine mammal densities (see Section 3.1). AUVs may have particular application for monitoring in O&G activity areas impacted by ice (Dowdeswell et al., 2008) including oil spills (Kukulya et al., 2016). Long range vehicles may be well suited to regular monitoring of many decommissioned sites spread over a wide geographic area.

3.3. Unmanned surface vehicles

This category includes both powerful boat-like vessels with diesel engines, and environmentally-powered platforms that may use solar, wind, or wave energy. Diesel-powered vehicles are generally used for short-term operations (hours, days) and may be operated remotely or autonomously, usually within sight of the operator. Environmentally powered vehicles can have considerable endurance, even crossing ocean basins (Goebel et al., 2014), and can be controlled via satellite. Both classes may carry a range of sensors to assess surface ocean conditions. Diesel-powered vehicles have application in seabed mapping (Wilson and Williams, 2018). They have been used in the Gulf of Mexico to increase the efficiency of metocean data collection, communicate with underwater vehicles (Leonard and Bahr, 2016), detect hydrocarbons, and carry out passive acoustic monitoring (e.g. Pai, 2015). There may be potential for coupling of surface vehicles with aerial drones, for example to carry out aerial photography (e.g. of seabirds, cetaceans, infrastructure) or make atmospheric measurements.

3.4. Fixed-point observatories

Having developed from simple anchored, self-recording instruments, today's fixed-point ocean observatories (FPOs) can provide multidisciplinary water column and/or seabed environmental time-series data in real- or near-real time (Cristini et al., 2016). These observatories variously apply acoustic, short-range radio, satellite link, and cabled data transmission to shore stations (Ruhl et al., 2011). Sensors are frequently self-powered, requiring routine servicing, though may be augmented by solar power, and in some cases are supplied with cabled power (Martin Taylor, 2009). They are typically equipped with a range of oceanographic sensors, including passive acoustic monitoring (Lin et al., 2015), and optical systems, that may be arranged through the water column, and at the seafloor (Ruhl et al., 2011). FPOs are increasingly used to provide long-term data on environmental variability and have already been employed in O&G-related studies (Vardaro et al., 2013; Osterloff et al., 2016). FPOs would allow high-temporal resolution data to be obtained before, during and after decommissioning operations, tracking a range of parameters including suspended solids, chemical contaminants, noise, light and faunal behaviour. They may also offer an approach for long-term monitoring, although they usually require regular maintenance (e.g. Juniper et al., 2013; Vardaro et al., 2013).

3.5. Seabed landing and crawling autonomous vehicles

Vehicles operating in contact with the seabed are currently the least common class of MAS, with the best known systems operated in association with deep-water FPOs. The "Benthic Rover" is a tracked vehicle that operates at the Station M long-term observatory site in the NE Pacific (Smith et al., 2009). It is primarily equipped with seabed observing cameras and a pair of flux chambers that can be inserted into the seafloor to measure sediment community oxygen consumption (McGill et al., 2009). TRAMPER is also a tracked crawling MAS and typically operates at the HAUSGARTEN observatory in the Fram Strait (Soltwedel et al., 2016). It too is equipped with seabed observing cameras, and is primarily designed to carry out sediment oxygen profiling using fibre optic-based optodes inserted into the seafloor (Wenzhöfer et al., 2016). Both of these deep-water crawling vehicles are designed for long-term studies of 6-12 months. A variety of seabed landing/interacting AUVs are in development or concept (Wang et al., 2009; Matsuda et al., 2017) as is a hybrid crawl-hover-class AUV (Pyo and Yu, 2016). Seabed landing and crawling vehicles may provide a useful role in decommissioning monitoring, particularly in the monitoring of cuttings piles. Here, the flux chamber or profiling electrode approach could be used to assess spatial and temporal change in contaminant release and seabed ecosystem function.

4. MAS sensors for monitoring decommissioning

Autonomous operations are typically very limited in terms of physical sample collection, and are consequently reliant on sensor-based data. Sensor research and development for MAS applications is currently very active, with microfluidic technology at the forefront of recent advances (Nightingale et al., 2015). MAS offer the potential for increasing the spatial and temporal resolution of sensor-based measurements. In the following, we consider established technologies that are at a high state of readiness, which can be relied upon today for monitoring of decommissioning (summarised in Table 3).

4.1. Geoacoustic sensors

Survey-class AUVs provide very attractive platforms from which to conduct geophysical surveys (using multibeam echosounders, MBES; sidescan sonars; synthetic aperture sonars; sub-bottom profilers) by being decoupled from sea surface motion and holding a steady altitude above seabed. As a result, this application is already very well developed in commercially available vehicles. For example, O&G AUV-based MBES surveys are used to characterise new exploration and exploitation areas (e.g. Jones et al., 2014), providing better quality (by minimising pitch, roll and yaw variation) and higher resolution bathymetry data (m-scale pixels) than can be achieved from surface vessels (10 to 100 m pixels).

AUVs are generally well-proven in geological and geomorphological investigations (e.g. Wynn et al., 2014; Huvenne et al., 2018). For the monitoring of finer-scale patterns of seafloor composition or disturbance (e.g. debris <1 m, trawl marks, cuttings piles), high-resolution sidescan or synthetic aperture sonars (>200 kHz) are commonly integrated in AUVs. They have also been employed to monitor change in conservation priority habitats such as cold-water corals and Sabellaria reefs (Huvenne et al., 2016a; Pearce et al., 2014). Similarly, obtaining high-resolution profiles of the shallow subsurface can be achieved using sub-bottom profilers or chirp systems (Tubau et al., 2015), with application in monitoring seafloor integrity, cuttings piles, buried pipelines, and the presence of gas or fluids in the shallow sub-seafloor. In addition to these conventional applications, the same sensor systems can be reorientated, on appropriate vehicles, to map vertical and overhanging surfaces and structures (Guerneve and Petillot, 2015). Such approaches have been successfully applied to joint geological and ecological assessments of complex seafloor terrain (Huvenne et al., 2016b; Robert et al., 2017) and the AUV-based mapping of the underside of sea ice and ice shelves

Table 3

Advantages and disadvantages for using autonomous systems for measuring key environmental indicators for decommissioning environmental impact.

Indicator	Advantages of autonomous systems	Disadvantages of autonomous systems	Recommendations
Bathymetry and seabed fabric	1. High-quality and high-resolution data; can access restricted areas; multiple sensor operations; potentially significant time/money/carbon footprint/risk savings	1. Potentially reduced navigational accuracy; potentially reduced reliability/increased risk of loss; increased initial costs; currently lower availability	1. In broad-scale surveys, use partnered surface ship or USV to improve navigation where necessary; for local repeat surveys, use seabed features/deployed markers/deployed acoustic transponders to improve navigation where necessary
Visual characterisation of the seabed	2. Greatly increased areal acquisition rate/areal coverage (statistically robust data); improved consistency in image quality and prospect of (semi-) automated data generation; greater temporal resolution (e.g. during winter storms)	Primary limitations as 1.	Primary recommendations as 1.2 . Survey class AUV for efficiency in open ground; hover class AUV for capability in restricted areas/complex terrain; FPO for local-scale time-series monitoring
Physical sediment characterisation	Essentially none; physical sampling unlikely to become practicable; (alternatives may be as valuable)	No physical sampling	Consider objectives; is the physical sample essential; are proxy measures (visual assessment) sufficient
Sediment chemistry	Well-developed science use in flux measurement (chamber and profiling systems); likely only viable for FPO operations	No physical sampling	Consider use/further development of existing flux measurement systems; and potential application via crawling AUV
Primary oceanographic data	3. Greatly increased temporal and spatial resolution; scope for remote intervention in form of reactive/adaptive surveys; excellent support for satellite monitoring	Very strictly limited physical sampling capability	Consider objectives; is the physical sample essential; directly addresses primary "essential ocean variables"; should be rapidly established as an environmental monitoring norm
Epifauna (epigrowth) abundance and composition	Primary advantages as 1. and 2.	Primary limitations as 1. Absence of physical samples may limit taxonomic resolution/precision	Primary recommendations as 1 . and 2 . Consider objectives; is taxonomic precision essential; is open nomenclature sufficient [Note a]
Infauna abundance and composition	Essentially none; physical sampling unlikely to become practicable; (alternatives may be as valuable)	No physical sampling.	Consider objectives; is the physical sample essential; are proxy measures (visual assessment of epifauna) sufficient; non-destructive sampling may be highly desirable in localised repeat monitoring operations (e.g. cuttings piles)
Marine mammal abundance and composition	Primary advantages as 3. Low noise/disturbance may be of particular importance	Difficult to obtain data directly equivalent to that from marine mammal observers; photography from UAV or USV may assist	Consider the potential use of passive acoustic monitoring on gliders and FPOs as a norm
Fish abundance and composition	Primary advantages as 3. Low noise/disturbance may be of particular importance	Limited availability of directly comparable historic data	Consider as a routine addition to assessment of epifauna abundance and composition; may be of particular value in the case of FPOs deployed to monitor remaining infrastructure

[Note a] Open nomenclature – the uncertainty or provisional status of specimen identifications can be expressed by a set of terms and abbreviations known as "open nomenclature" (see e.g. Sigovini et al., 2016), and/or the identification of specimens to morphological categories (see e.g. Althaus et al., 2015).

(Jenkins et al., 2010). These techniques would be directly applicable to the monitoring of any structures remaining after decommissioning operations.

4.2. Visual sensors

Conventional imaging (photography) in the marine environment has a long and successful history in the assessment and monitoring of many aspects of marine biology and ecology (Solan et al., 2003; Durden et al., 2016). An option for seabed photography is already available in a number of commercially available AUVs, having been employed from research vehicles for some time (Jones et al., 2005; Morris et al., 2014). Similarly, time-lapse photography is well-established in FPO operations (Bett, 2003; Bett et al., 2001), with O&G-related examples including both long-term deep-water seabed observations (Vardaro et al., 2013), and water column observations of infrastructure-associated fish populations (Fujii and Jamieson, 2016). Water column imaging systems for the assessment of particle concentration and plankton populations are well developed (Benfield et al., 2007), with many suited to integration with MAS operations. Laser-based particle imaging has been implemented on survey-class AUVs for the study of zooplankton (Pedersen et al., 2010) and suspended sediment particles (Thompson et al., 2013). A development of these approaches allows the monitoring of oil droplets, gas bubbles, and oil-coated gas bubbles, and has been trialled in a submarine mining tailing placement study that may have particular relevance to cuttings pile disturbance (Davies and Nepstad, 2017).

Laser-based imaging systems have also been employed to provide 3D reconstruction of the viewed scene, using a variety of techniques (laser line scanning, laser striping, range-gated imaging, structured lighting), that have been implemented in towed systems, Remotely Operated Vehicles (ROVs), and AUVs (Massot-Campos and Oliver-Codina, 2015). Such approaches have been further developed to combine conventional imaging (colour photography) with 3D scene capture (Bodenmann et al., 2017), and have been successfully deployed on a hover-class AUV (Nishida et al., 2016). These various imaging systems have clear applications to post-decommissioning environmental monitoring, whether censusing pelagic or benthic communities, quantifying particles in the water column, or examining the 3D structure of the seafloor or any remaining O&G infrastructure.

4.3. Oceanographic sensors

Many commercially available Argo floats, gliders and AUVs can be, or are routinely, equipped with a basic set of oceanographic instruments comprising conductivity, temperature, depth, oxygen, turbidity, and fluorescence sensors. Similar, and often more extensive, sensor suites are typically fitted to FPOs (Hartman et al., 2012; Vardaro et al., 2013). In addition to their typical use in assessing phytoplankton (chlorophyll), fluorescence sensors have also been employed to monitor oil in water. Coloured (or chromophoric) dissolved organic matter (CDOM) fluorescence can be used to detect crude oil, including use on a survey class AUV in the mapping of the deep-water oil plume following the Macondo blowout (Ryan et al., 2011). CDOM sensors are not specific to oil or particular oils, greater specificity can be achieved by membrane inlet mass spectrometry (MIMS) and these instruments have been developed for in situ operations (Schlüter and Gentz, 2008). Carried by a hover-class AUV, this type of system was also used to map the Macondo deepwater oil plume (Camilli et al., 2010; White et al., 2016). In situ chemical sensors are in a phase of development, with some potentially suitable for MAS applications, for example dissolved manganese sensors (Meyer et al., 2016), that have been carried by a hover-class AUV (Doi et al., 2008). Sensors for in situ microbiological sensing are generally large and expensive at present but innovations in technology and biochemistry are leading to potential for use in offshore monitoring of water quality (McQuillan and Robidart, 2017).

4.4. Water column acoustics

Many MAS operations (gliders, AUVs, USVs, FPOs) include acoustic Doppler current profiling instruments that enable assessments of water movements (Randeni et al., 2017), and have the potential to estimate suspended sediment concentrations and movements as may result from trawling or dredging activities (Van Lancker and Baeye, 2015). Larger MAS systems have been used to obtain water column acoustic data for some time, and have now been successfully incorporated in gliders (Guihen et al., 2014). The ability of acoustic systems to detect particles in the water column is also exploited in hydro-/bioacoustic MAS applications through the use of multifrequency or broadband fisheries echosounders (Trenkel et al., 2009; Brierley et al., 2003). The geoacoustic sensors (section 4.1) commonly deployed on AUVs can also be employed to assess fish stocks, using both MBES (Innangi et al., 2016) and sidescan sonar instruments (Grothues et al., 2017). Similarly, gas escapes from the seafloor can also be mapped using these techniques (MBES: Urban et al., 2017), including survey-class AUV-mounted interferometric sidescan sonar (Blomberg et al., 2017). MAS systems may be favoured over other methods because they can carry these range-limited instruments closer to the targets of interest (e.g. Benoit-Bird et al., 2017), and being generally quiet, may minimise observer bias (Griffiths et al., 2001). Despite this, some mobile midwater organisms do exhibit escape responses to moving MAS (Dunlop et al., 2018).

Active acoustic methods can be used to characterise a range of parameters of direct relevance to decommissioning operations. Water column MBES measurements are also used to characterise the full extent of large objects on the seabed (e.g. Hughes Clarke et al., 2006). Gas escapes from the seafloor or pipelines can also be assessed by passive acoustic monitoring (PAM) (Leighton and White, 2012), where MAS deployment may be the preferred option (Blackford et al., 2015). The PAM approach can also be employed to detect, and potentially localise, a wide range of natural and anthropogenic sounds in the marine environment (Baumgartner et al., 2018). MAS applications, often targeting marine mammals, have been successfully undertaken from simple FPOs (Merchant et al., 2014; Hildebrand et al., 2015), cabled-FPOs (Lin et al., 2015; Caruso et al., 2017), an O&G-related deep-water FPO (Vardaro et al., 2013), gliders (Suberg et al., 2014), and USVs (Bingham et al., 2012).

5. MAS data for monitoring decommissioning

Here we briefly review some key properties of the data generated by autonomous platforms and how they can be analysed. We focus on the challenges presented by data from autonomous platforms that are likely to be used to support environmental monitoring of decommissioned areas.

5.1. Geoacoustic data

Geoacoustic data acquired by MAS are very similar in nature to that acquired by ship-board operations and are often of higher resolution. Processing of data from autonomous platforms follows similar routines to conventional surveys, except for additional complications owing to higher positional uncertainty (see below) and the vertical position of the vessel changing considerably throughout the survey (Calder and Mayer, 2003). General AUV mapping approaches are well developed (e.g. Grasmueck et al., 2006; Dupré et al., 2008) and have now also been adapted to the mapping of complex structures (e.g. Robert et al., 2017). Navigational errors may pose challenges for acoustic mapping, particularly if data for one survey are obtained over different dives or different parts of the dive. Solving this is best done at the time of acquisition, but it is possible to correct the navigation based on manual or automatic feature matching across overlapping sections of data (Barkby et al., 2009). For most decommissioning applications spatial accuracy and precision requirements will be very high, likely beyond that which can be achieved through dead reckoning alone. The most robust solution to bound navigation errors is via regular acoustic position updates throughout the dive, either via a network of seabed transponders or by acoustic communication with a surface vessel (ship or USV).

5.2. Visual data

Autonomous platforms can generate large volumes of high-quality visual data, such as seafloor photographs (Morris et al., 2014). For many applications, manual image annotation has been the primary way of extracting data from images, which can be slow and laborious for large datasets (Durden et al., 2016). New tools for pre-processing (Lu et al., 2017) and annotation speed up workflows (Langenkämper et al., 2017). However, advances in artificial intelligence are likely to be important in more routine use of autonomous vehicles for monitoring. These will aid the workflows by identifying features of interest for human annotators and by automatically identifying objects visible in images. Semi-automated approaches, with expert training of identification algorithms, have been successfully applied to underwater image sets, with reasonable accuracy (Schoening et al., 2012). Automated approaches have been successfully applied to the assessment of both geological (Schoening et al., 2016) and biological features (Gormley et al., 2018; Lüdtke et al., 2012; Kannappan et al., 2014).

AUV photography can be used to make high-resolution photomosaics (Singh et al., 2004) over relatively large areas of seafloor (e.g. ~0.1 km²; Kwasnitschka et al., 2016). Mosaics construction can be automated (Pizarro et al., 2017) and can be achieved with lower-quality navigation (Barreyre et al., 2012). The resulting mosaics have many applications (Martin et al., 2007), including accurate spatial and temporal assessment of changing environmental conditions (Barreyre et al., 2012), which would be directly relevant for monitoring of changes in decommissioned sites. Stereo photography (Johnson-Roberson et al., 2010) or structure-from-motion techniques (Robert et al., 2017) can also be used to automatically generate accurate bathymetry maps or morphometric assessments of structures. Laser-based approaches from AUVs offer the potential for higher resolution automated 3dimensional reconstruction and metrology (Massot-Campos and Oliver-Codina, 2015; Thornton et al., 2016), which could be used to assess centimetre-scale changes in decommissioned structures over time.

5.3. Oceanographic data

Underwater gliders collect water column profile data similar to shipdeployed CTD instruments. Increasingly complex sensor payloads collect high-quality water column data over relatively long time periods, including during weather conditions that may prevent ship-borne operations (Peterson and Fer, 2014). Internally stored position and engineering data for the glider and its sensors are transmitted by Iridium or ARGOS satellite when the glider is at the surface. At these times, return control communication is available to enable adaptive mission planning. Low power and slow speed, particularly in coastal waters, and deadreckoning navigation between surfacing means that spatial precision can be low, but temporal resolution of oceanographic processes is high.

Glider survey design relies on a balance between survey duration, data quantity and quality, sampling frequency and battery life (Willcox et al., 2001). The maximum depth for the saw-tooth dive profile of submarine gliders can be regulated by an altimeter or pressure sensor. Use of an altimeter can provide greater coverage of the water column in shallower water, i.e. by diving to a specified altitude above the seabed rather than a specified depth in the water column (Suberg et al., 2014). Glider attitude may influence sensor data relevance and reliability, e.g. irradiance sensors are sensitive to orientation of the glider (Ross et al., 2017). Information from high data rate/volume sensors, such as active and passive acoustic systems, may be too extensive for satellite transmission such that full data processing is only possible after the glider is recovered.

Fixed-point observatories may be cabled or standalone, collecting a broad range of oceanographic parameters at depths from the surface to the seabed (Cristini et al., 2016). Standalone FPOs provide similar data to the temporary metocean moorings often used by industry to inform engineering design of surface and subsurface infrastructure. They may provide near real-time data via satellite communications with the surface buoy (e.g. Hartman et al., 2012). Cabled observatories can offer direct communications to control the instrumentation, collect real-time data, and can potentially interact with autonomous mobile platforms such as AUVs (Howe et al., 2015). The different arrays of instruments and sensors on FPOs require varying workflows but there are some common requirements, in particular around quality assurance; these include automated and manual procedures (e.g. Abeysirigunawardena et al., 2016). Algorithm-based event detection is also a very desirable capability for long-term environmental monitoring. For example, autonomous geohazard observatory systems may respond to particular pressure or seismicity changes by increasing sampling rates and issuing an alert communication (Monna et al., 2014).

Common challenges for long-term instrument deployments include sensor calibration, sensor drift, and biofouling. In the case of gliders, ship-bourne CTD deployments can be carried out at the launch and recovery points to account for sensor drift (Suberg et al., 2014), and/or data can be cross-referenced between simultaneous glider deployments (Ross et al., 2017). Ships of opportunity, and observatory servicing vessels, can play a similar role in the calibration of FPO instruments (Beggs et al., 2012). Sensors deployed in the deep ocean typically experience only modest biofouling, however, instruments deployed in the surface ocean or coastal seas can be subject to extreme biofouling. The intended operating environment and the nature of the sensor system will determine the need for anti-fouling measures (Delauney et al., 2010; Rolin et al., 2011; Laurent et al., 2017).

5.4. Sound and noise data

Passive acoustic monitoring (PAM) uses hydrophones to detect sound in the marine environment and can be applied to ambient or anthropogenic sources (Merchant et al., 2014). Hydrophones have been deployed on fixed-point observatories (Caruso et al., 2017), autonomous underwater vehicles (Mellinger et al., 2017) and unmanned surface vehicles (Bingham et al., 2012). EU MSFD descriptor 11 sets out monitoring requirements for noise pollution, including measuring the 10 Hz to 10 kHz frequency band for sound sources likely to impact marine animals, and the annual average of continuous ambient sound (60 Hz - 125 Hz; Van der Schaar et al., 2017). Monitoring of bioacoustics is less prescriptive and may fall within the MSFD biodiversity indicator suite. Cabled FPOs offer a flexible approach to acoustic data flow and data processing. In contrast, stand-alone observatories or moorings may have communication limitations and require on-board data storage (with compression) and transmission of pre-processed data. Other considerations include acoustic interference such as intentional noise (modems, ADCPs), mechanical noise (e.g. movement of the platform) or electrical noise, which may be mitigated by decoupling the hydrophone from other systems and/or data processing methods. Similar challenges exist for mobile platforms, though submerged gliders may be well suited because of the lack of continuous motor noise and sea surface noise (Mellinger et al., 2017).

Passive acoustic monitoring often produces high volume datasets. Van der Schaar et al. (2017) propose that for environmental impact assessment, a noise level and cetacean presence report should be presented, including the levels over time and the distribution of cetacean detection. For comparisons in space and time, standardised metadata protocols for PAM datasets have been developed (Roch et al., 2016). PAM data is often classified manually, aurally or visually from the spectrogram parameters (e.g. Klinck et al., 2012), although advances are being made in automated classification (e.g. Frasier et al., 2017). Automated systems have been demonstrated with varying levels of classification success depending audio quantity, quality and number of species present (Gillespie et al., 2013), but are becoming increasingly comparable with manual assessments (Korneliussen et al., 2016). In the case of odontocete echolocation clicks, compressed acoustic data stored onboard gliders have been screened autonomously using a detection algorithm (Klinck and Mellinger, 2011) and successfully reported specific detection events back to shore during glider surfacing (Klinck et al., 2012).

5.5. Active acoustic water column data

The mid-water acoustic datasets obtained by MAS are comparable to those obtained by other means, although equivalent data are considerably slower to obtain with gliders than with other MAS systems and ships (Guihen et al., 2014). To date the application of these data has been to measure the abundance and distribution of midwater organisms, including zooplankton, fish and marine mammals (Baumgartner et al., 2013; Dunlop et al., 2018; Guihen et al., 2014; Klinck et al., 2012; Melvin et al., 2003). Depending on the platform, careful processing of data may be necessary, as they are sensitive to vehicle attitude (Guihen et al., 2014). Calibration of the sensor and the resultant data is important, but can be complex for mid-water MBES as it relies on precise vehicle navigation (Dunlop et al., 2018). Although additional steps may be required for processing, these are readily automated and are unlikely to pose a significant challenge for monitoring operations. Mid-water acoustic data, particularly that obtained by MBES are voluminous, which may present some problems with storage and processing (Dunlop et al., 2018).

5.6. Data quality and management

The quality control of large data streams generated by MAS is important, particularly for monitoring applications where datasets are compared that are collected on multiple occasions potentially with multiple vehicles and different operators. The production of good quality and representative data is dependent on good field and laboratory practices (Ibe and Kullenberg, 1995). Such practices may include sensor calibration prior to deployment and validation of sensor calibrations at deployment and recovery. Intercalibration of approaches may be required (Birk et al., 2013). Post-collection quality control of data is often important and may be accomplished via automated approaches, such as those used for large-scale integrations of ocean data – for example the European Commission Copernicus Marine Service (CMEMS; von Schuckmann et al., 2018). Documentation of the approach (in metadata) is essential to allow both the assessment of data quality and to provide the necessary information to afford a reasoned interpretation of data. Parts of this documentation may be inherent to MAS system operation (e.g. in mission programmes), but needs to be recorded alongside datasets with the appropriate range of other metadata.

The effectiveness of MAS operations for monitoring of decommissioning is dependent not only on the data collection but also on the implementation and maintenance of procedures to ensure access to high-quality data, data documentation, and derived products (Porter et al., 2004). Management of monitoring data requires robust systems for assembly, storage, registration, dissemination, and permanent archiving of data collections. Management of high-quality data is not a unique challenge for use of MAS in monitoring, although the volume and possible complexity of MAS data may mean that effective data management is

particularly important. The approaches for data management are not reviewed here, but significant international (e.g. Global Ocean Observing System (GOOS)) efforts have been made to promote standardised management practices for ocean data including integrating those obtained by MAS (Meredith et al., 2013).

6. Trade-offs between MAS and other approaches

In many cases, MAS simply provides a new platform for wellestablished sensors that have a historic track record in O&G industryrelated monitoring programmes. As such, where they offer gains in efficiency, increased spatial and temporal coverage, and/or reduced cost, there is little need to question their adoption. However, the currently rather limited capability for MAS to acquire physical samples warrants further consideration.

Physical samples have been important in past and current environmental assessment and monitoring for decommissioning, providing material for laboratory analyses that yield widely understood results. Some resistance to change may stem from an assumption that physical samples are necessary. Yet, if the parameter of interest can be measured at an appropriate accuracy and precision with a MAS sensor, then the temporal, spatial, and statistical distribution of that monitoring target will be better established via MAS. A range of such approaches already exist and have been deployed on MAS. Some sophisticated approaches are already possible, for example, autonomous mass spectrometers have been demonstrated for water column chemical characterisation (Camilli et al., 2010), micro-sensors and other techniques (such as eddy correlation) are used routinely in scientific applications to measure a range of parameters in sediments, including from autonomous landers (Glud, 2008), but require expert interpretation that does not vet exist in commercial service providers (White et al., 2016). Translating these techniques to MAS and remotely operated systems is already in progress, for example through developments with seabed crawlers (Purser et al., 2013; Smith et al., 2014). In contrast, some other analyses/parameters may be very difficult (if not impossible) to achieve via MAS, e.g. macrofaunal abundance and diversity. It is conceivable that proxy solutions could be implemented, for example through in situ molecular techniques (e.g. Harvey et al., 2012); however, the selection of alternative indicators may be the most tractable option. In the case of the key variables of ecosystem health that often lie at the centre of environmental monitoring, e.g. the essential biodiversity variables (EBVs) of the global biodiversity observing system (GEO BON; Kissling et al., 2018), there are certainly numerous alternatives. The potential uplift in temporal and spatial monitoring resolution that would be possible with MAS should be carefully weighed against maintaining historical precedent

As a relatively novel tool for the monitoring of decommissioning, MAS data may not always be directly comparable with the available legacy data (Table 2). Some parameters, which cannot be assessed autonomously - those currently requiring physical samples, may nevertheless be essential to understand specific environmental impacts. This linkage to legacy data may be an important consideration, they have a clear role in understanding long-term trends, particularly those associated with historic field development and those at distant locations (control sites) beyond the immediate influence of O&G operations. However, those data collected for baseline assessments and monitoring of O&G projects are highly variable in quality and quantity, and many sites have insufficient data for any robust time-series assessments to be made (Henry et al., 2017). Consequently, the true value of such large existing industry databases (e.g. the UK Benthos Database; Henry et al., 2017) to post-decommissioning monitoring is not clear. In the North Sea case, past-present-future comparisons are further complicated by both: (a) the presence of a major demersal fishing industry, with its concomitant impacts on the seafloor environment; and (b) major climate-related systematic seasonal and inter-annual variations in the fauna (see Section 2.4, 2.5). These factors again suggest the timely need to weigh the potentially major benefits of MAS against maintaining the status quo in marine monitoring generally.

There are some risks associated with MAS operations, particularly in the vicinity of oil and gas operations (Brito and Griffiths, 2016). These include risks of loss of the MAS themselves, but also potential scenarios where other operations or even safety are compromised. These more serious risks primarily relate to the potential for entanglement or collision between MAS and vessels or infrastructure. Simultaneous operation of MAS and other vessels may represent challenges, particularly if rapid response operations are necessary. These issues are wider than decommissioning monitoring and present an area of active legal and operational practice development (Showalter, 2004). MAS may also act to reduce risks of monitoring, particularly when compared to vessel-based operations.

7. Prospect - basin-scale integrated monitoring

MAS offer many solutions for the future of marine environmental monitoring for decommissioning. MAS operations are often most effective when multiple systems (e.g. satellites, floats, moorings, AUVs, etc.) are integrated as an observation network to develop a more synoptic view of the environment (Ohman et al., 2013; Meyer, 2016). At present, completely autonomous operations are unlikely and will require combination with, and support from, ship-based efforts. In the case of decommissioned oil fields, a range of autonomous platforms would be incorporated in an idealised monitoring scheme. Here we consider the near-term possibilities of an integrated MAS approach that would potentially be scalable to multiple fields or a complete basin.

Regular monitoring of decommissioned sites and their environs is assumed to be a key regulatory requirement. At the broadest scale, remote sensing by satellite imaging of ocean colour has a role to play in localising and monitoring phytoplankton blooms (Blondeau-Patissier et al., 2014), and in the identification and tracking of major changes such as accidental releases of hydrocarbons (Brekke and Solberg, 2005). FPOs located strategically in industrially exploited basins, such as the North Sea, would support the ground-truthing of satellite data and potentially provide the background data necessary to distinguish changes relating to decommissioning from those driven by environmental variability (natural or other anthropogenic impacts). It may be possible to utilise some existing seafloor infrastructure to introduce cabled FPOs, allowing good two-way communication with the deployed MAS network (Howe et al., 2015).

Detailed monitoring of water column (oceanographic) conditions in the vicinity of decommissioned fields is likely best achieved with underwater gliders. With month to year durations, gliders could be tasked with repeat surveys around points of interest, assessing water column parameters, potentially including release of contaminants. Such operations would likely require conventional surface vessel support, including the collection of calibration data and follow-up sampling of any persistent features detected in the telemetered glider data. Suitable support vessels would require relatively modest capabilities and could support multiple deployed vehicles and FPOs. Some of the necessary support functions could be achieved using 'ships of opportunity'.

MAS operations may also be valuable prior to decommissioning, not least in establishing baseline conditions, with early adoption of autonomous techniques providing a smooth transition to the future monitoring scenario. Satellites and aerial drones deployed from operational rigs could provide remote sensing of ocean colour, temperature, wave climate and marine mammals (Torres et al., 2018). Small USVs could be deployed safely around existing infrastructure gathering data on a range of surface ocean characteristics (e.g. physical, chemical and noise). Similarly, gliders could be flown in tight circuits of the near-field environment to better constrain local temporal and spatial variability in water column profiles. Greater detail on key near-field baseline characteristics of the water column and seafloor might be obtained via FPOs, with the latter potentially installed and maintained using existing ROVs and their support vessels (Gates et al., 2016; Macreadie et al., 2018; Petersen, 2014). During decommissioning operations a balance would need to be achieved whereby any environmental data necessary or valuable for subsequent monitoring was collected without impacting the decommissioning operation itself. FPOs may be particularly well suited in that case; installed prior to operations beginning and providing monitoring during the decommissioning and the immediate post-decommissioning phases.

It is likely that a major data acquisition effort will be focussed on describing environmental conditions immediately post-decommissioning, with follow-up monitoring at intervals subsequently. The first step in the post-decommissioning phase may be high-resolution acoustic mapping of the area to establish baseline seafloor morphology, including any remaining structures or other features of interest - a mission that survey class AUVs are particularly well-suited to, and where they have an existing O&G industry track record (Jones et al., 2014). The same or similar AUVs could also carry out visual imaging and/or mapping of the seafloor, providing direct evidence of seafloor physical condition and benthic biodiversity data. Other AUV sensor-based monitoring could include water column temperature, turbidity, and contaminant levels (with common sensors also deployed via FPOs and gliders). Within-sediment environment conditions could potentially be assessed using FPOs and crawler class AUVs. Acoustic observations of the nearfield water column by USV, gliders, FPOs or AUVs could be used to quantify the presence and abundance of fish and cetaceans in the water column. Remaining and/or buried infrastructure could also be specifically targeted using hover class AUVs, some of which have already been specifically designed for such operations (Cormell, 2012; Liljebäck and Mills, 2017; Sverdrup-Thygeson et al., 2016). Snake-like AUVs (e.g. the Eelume vehicle; Liljebäck and Mills, 2017; Sverdrup-Thygeson et al., 2016) could be used to enter confined spaces to gather data, for example from storage cells.

At present, several MAS systems can be launched from shore, aerial vehicles, small vessels or vessels of opportunity (Phillips et al., 2017). In the near future, purpose-designed long-range AUVs are likely to be able to make long (>100 km) transits to get to or move between work sites (Roper et al., 2017; Kukulya et al., 2016). Such capabilities for self transiting will greatly facilitate and reduce the cost of operations. Force multiplication by multiple vehicles or multiple types of vehicles (e.g. AUVs coupled with USVs) offer opportunities for improvements to surveys (e.g. by improving positional accuracy) or further efficiency gains (Jung et al., 2009). It may also be possible to use any remaining (or nearby) infrastructure to improve the performance of MAS, for example using power or data transfer capacities by direct docking of AUVs and/or acoustic communication systems (Galletti di Cadilhac and Brighenti, 2003; Qiao et al., 2017). Strategic operations shared between operators within a region may further reduce costs, with MAS systems moving between multiple sites and gathering directly comparable data. Such broad-scale operations might encompass decommissioned sites, active O&G operations, and reference 'unimpacted' areas. A regionallyconsistent monitoring programme of this type would address the specific needs of post-decommissioning monitoring, and would represent a very substantial contribution to various international commitments concerning environmental protection - not least the vision of the UN Decade of Ocean Science for Sustainable Development, that has as a strategic objective the development of enhanced ocean observing networks, data systems, infrastructure, and supporting cooperation and partnerships to service the demands of all nations by 2030 (IOC, 2018).

8. Conclusions

The specific requirements for environmental monitoring postdecommissioning are likely to vary between environments, perceived threats, and jurisdictions. Nevertheless, long-term monitoring is likely to be necessary to meet regulatory requirements and provide assurance to other stakeholders. Current standard practise does permit effective monitoring, however, the temporal and spatial resolution of that effort is typically limited by the high cost of ship time. MAS does offer significant potential to reduce that financial and carbon-footprint cost and reduce human risk of seagoing operations; however, its ability to offer a major uplift in the temporal and spatial resolution of environmental monitoring data should also be given serious consideration.

Here, we have shown that autonomous solutions now exist for many of the relevant monitoring challenges, and that they already offer the potential to streamline some operations. The major perceived limitation of autonomy in post-decommissioning monitoring is the general inability to collect physical samples, particularly in the case of the seabed sediments. This necessarily limits the use of particular current standard practices. It is our view that these issues may well be surmountable through careful re-evaluation of appropriate indicators and/or by rapid technological advances. We hope that we have indicated that a number of the potential solutions already exist, though have yet to become commercially available. Industry demand and regulatory support could help to increase the pace of that technology transfer. There seems little doubt that MAS will be a transformative technology for environmental monitoring, only the rate of change is uncertain. From Eckman's mechanical current in the first years of the 20th century to the extraordinary success of today's global network of Argo floats, autonomy has revolutionised oceanographic sciences, it is now set to move marine environmental monitoring and conservation substantially forwards.

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank K. Cross, M. Thompson, P. Collinson, D. Orr, L. Harper, S. Keedwell, A. Montgomery, D. Manning, J. Blackburn, J. Pringle, A. Schink, M. Shields and R. Lind for useful discussion during the preparation of this paper. BB, AG, VH, AP and DJ were funded in part by Natural Environment Research Council, UK (NERC) grant "Advanced monitoring of marine infrastructure for decommissioning" reference NE/P016561/1. AG also received funding from NERC grant "Application of autonomous systems to monitor oil spills" reference NE/P013228/1, and the Horizon 2020, EU Project "EMSO-Link" grant ID 731036. This study is a contribution to the Climate Linked Atlantic Section Science (CLASS) programme and was supported by UK Natural Environment Research Council National Capability funding, grant number NE/R015953/1.

References

- Abeysirigunawardena, D., M. Jeffries, and M. Hoeberechts. 2016. Real-time quality control practices on a cabled ocean observatory: A 10 year case study in Saanich Inlet, BC. Pages 1-10 in OCEANS 2016 MTS/IEEE Monterey.
- Althaus, F., Hill, N., Ferrari, R., Edwards, L., Przeslawski, R., Schönberg, C.H.L., Stuart-Smith, R., Barrett, N., Edgar, G., Colquhoun, J., Tran, M., Jordan, A., Rees, T., Gowlett-Holmes, K., 2015. A standardised vocabulary for identifying benthic biota and substrata from underwater imagery: the CATAMI classification scheme. PLoS One 10 (10), e0141039.
- Auber, A., Travers-Trolet, M., Villanueva, M.C., Ernande, B., 2015. Regime shift in an exploited fish community related to natural climate oscillations. PLoS One 10, e0129883.
- Barkby, S., Williams, S., Pizarro, O., Jakuba, M., 2009. An efficient approach to bathymetric SLAM, 2009 IEEE/RSJ international conference on intelligent robots and systems, pp. 219-224.
- Barreyre, T., Escartín, J., Garcia, R., Cannat, M., Mittelstaedt, E., Prados, R., 2012. Structure, temporal evolution, and heat flux estimates from the lucky strike deep-sea hydrothermal field derived from seafloor image mosaics. Geochem. Geophys. Geosyst. 13, 004007.
- Basford, D., Eleftheriou, A., 1988. The benthic environment of the North Sea (56° to 61°N). J. mar. biol. assoc. U.K. 68, 125-141.
- Basford, D., Eleftheriou, A., Raffaelli, D., 1990. The infauna and epifauna of the northern North Sea. Neth. J. Sea Res. 25, 165–173.
- Baumgartner, M.F., Fratantoni, D.M., Hurst, T.P., Brown, M.W., Cole, T.V.N., Parijs, S.M.V., Johnson, M., 2013. Real-time reporting of baleen whale passive acoustic detections from ocean gliders. J. Acoust. Soc. Am. 134, 1814–1823.
- Baumgartner, M.F., Stafford, K.M., Latha, G., 2018. Near real-time underwater passive acoustic monitoring of natural and anthropogenic sounds. In: Venkatesan, R., Tandon, A., D'Asaro, E., Atmanand, M.A. (Eds.), Observing the Oceans in Real Time. Springer International Publishing, Cham, pp. 203–226.
- Bean, T.P., Greenwood, N., Beckett, R., Biermann, L., Bignell, J.P., Brant, J.L., Copp, G.H., Devlin, M.J., Dye, S., Feist, S.W., Fernand, L., Foden, D., Hyder, K., Jenkins, C.M., van der Kooij, J., Kröger, S., Kupschus, S., Leech, C., Leonard, K.S., Lynam, C.P., Lyons, B.P., Maes, T., Nicolaus, E.E.M., Malcolm, S.J., McIlwaine, P., Merchant, N.D., Paltriguera, L., Pearce, D.J., Pitois, S.G., Stebbing, P.D., Townhill, B., Ware, S., Williams, O., Righton, D., 2017. A review of the tools used for marine monitoring in the UK: combining

historic and contemporary methods with modeling and socioeconomics to fulfill legislative needs and scientific ambitions. Front. Mar. Sci. 4, 263. https://doi.org/ 10.3389/fmars.2017.00263.

- Beggs, H.M., Verein, R., Paltoglou, G., Kippo, H., Underwood, M., 2012. Enhancing ship of opportunity sea surface temperature observations in the Australian region. J. Oper. Oceanogr. 5, 59–73.
- BEIS, 2018. Guidance Notes: Decommissioning of Offshore Oil and Gas Installations and Pipelines. Department of Business Energy and Industrial Strategy, Aberdeen, p. 127. Bell, N., Smith, J., 1999. Coral growing on North Sea oil rigs. Nature 402, 601.
- Benfield, M.C., Grosjean, P., Culverhouse, P.F., Irigoien, X., Sieracki, M.E., Lopez-Urrutia, A., Dam, H.G., Hu, Q., Davis, C.S., Hanson, A., Pilskaln, C.H., Riseman, E.M., Schultz, H., Utgoff, P.E., Gorsky, G., 2007. RAPID: research on automated plankton identification. Oceanography 20, 172–187.
- Benoit-Bird, K.J., Moline, M.A., Southall, B.L., 2017. Prey in oceanic sound scattering layers organize to get a little help from their friends. Limnol. Oceanogr. 62, 2788–2798.
- Bett, B.J., 2003. Time-lapse photography in the Deep Sea. Underw. Technol. 25, 121–127. Bett, B.J., Malzone, M.G., Narayanaswamy, B.E., Wigham, B.D., 2001. Temporal variability in phytodetritus and megabenthic activity at the seabed in the deep Northeast Atlantic. Prog. Oceanogr. 50, 349–368.
- Billings, A., Kaiser, C., Young, C.M., Hiebert, L.S., Cole, E., Wagner, J.K.S., Van Dover, C.L., 2017. SyPRID sampler: a large-volume, high-resolution, autonomous, deep-ocean precision plankton sampling system. Deep-Sea Res. Pt. II 137, 297–306.
- Bingham, B., Foley, B., Singh, H., Camilli, R., Delaporta, K., Eustice, R., Mallios, A., Mindell, D., Roman, C., Sakellariou, D., 2010. Robotic tools for deep water archaeology: surveying an ancient shipwreck with an autonomous underwater vehicle. J. Field Rob. 27, 702–717.
- Bingham, B., Kraus, N., Howe, B., Freitag, L., Ball, K., Koski, P., Gallimore, E., 2012. Passive and active acoustics using an autonomous wave glider. J. Field Rob. 29, 911–923.
- Birchenough, S.N.R., Reiss, H., Degraer, S., Mieszkowska, N., Borja, Á., Buhl-Mortensen, L., Braeckman, U., Craeymeersch, J., De Mesel, I., Kerckhof, F., Kröncke, I., Parra, S., Rabaut, M., Schröder, A., Van Colen, C., Van Hoey, G., Vincx, M., Wätjen, K., 2015. Climate change and marine benthos: a review of existing research and future directions in the North Atlantic. Wiley Interdiscip. Rev. Clim. Chang. 6, 203–223.
- Birk, S., Willby, N.J., Kelly, M.G., Bonne, W., Borja, A., Poikane, S., van de Bund, W., 2013. Intercalibrating classifications of ecological status: Europe's quest for common management objectives for aquatic ecosystems. Sci. Total Environ. 454-455, 490–499.
- Blackford, J., Bull, J.M., Cevatoglu, M., Connelly, D., Hauton, C., James, R.H., Lichtschlag, A., Stahl, H., Widdicombe, S., Wright, I.C., 2015. Marine baseline and monitoring strategies for carbon dioxide capture and storage (CCS). Int. J. Greenhouse Gas Control 38, 221–229.
- Blomberg, A.E.A., Sæbø, T.O., Hansen, R.E., Pedersen, R.B., Austeng, A., 2017. Automatic detection of marine gas seeps using an interferometric sidescan sonar. IEEE J. Ocean. Eng. 42, 590–602.
- Blondeau-Patissier, D., Gower, J.F.R., Dekker, A.G., Phinn, S.R., Brando, V.E., 2014. A review of ocean color remote sensing methods and statistical techniques for the detection, mapping and analysis of phytoplankton blooms in coastal and open oceans. Prog. Oceanogr. 123, 123–144.
- Bodenmann, A., Thornton, B., Ura, T., 2017. Generation of high-resolution threedimensional reconstructions of the seafloor in color using a single camera and structured light. J. Field Rob. 34, 833–851.
- Brekke, C., Solberg, A.H.S., 2005. Oil spill detection by satellite remote sensing. Remote Sens. Environ. 95, 1–13.
- Breuer, E., Stevenson, A.G., Howe, J.A., Carroll, J., Shimmield, G.B., 2004. Drill cutting accumulations in the northern and central North Sea: a review of environmental interactions and chemical fate. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 48 (1–2), 12–25.
- Bricheno, L.M., Wolf, J., Aldridge, J., 2015. Distribution of natural disturbance due to wave and tidal bed currents around the UK. Cont. Shelf Res. 109, 67–77.
- Brierley, A.S., Fernandes, P.G., Brandon, M.A., Armstrong, F., Millard, N.W., McPhail, S.D., Stevenson, P., Pebody, M., Perrett, J.R., Squires, M., Bone, D.G., Griffiths, G., 2003. An investigation of avoidance by Antarctic krill of RRS "James Clark Ross" using the Autosub-2 autonomous underwater vehicle. Fish. Res. 60, 569–576.
- Brito, M.P., Griffiths, G., 2016. Autonomy: risk assessment. In: Dhanak, M.R., Xiros, N.I. (Eds.), Springer Handbook of Ocean Engineering. Springer, Cham.
- Calder, B.R., Mayer, L.A., 2003. Automatic processing of high-rate, high-density multibeam echosounder data. Geochem. Geophys. Geosyst. 4.
- Camilli, R., Reddy, C.M., Yoerger, D.R., Van Mooy, B.A.S., Jakuba, M.V., Kinsey, J.C., McIntyre, C.P., Sylva, S.P., Maloney, J.V., 2010. Tracking hydrocarbon plume transport and biodegradation at Deepwater Horizon. Science 330 (6001), 201–204.
- Caress, D.W., Thomas, H., Kirkwood, W.J., McEwen, R., Henthorn, R., Clague, D.A., Paull, C.K., Paduan, J., Maier, K., 2008. High-resolution multibeam, sidescan and subbottom surveys using the MBARI AUV D. Allan B. In: Reynolds, J.R., Greene, H.G. (Eds.), Marine Habitat Mapping Technology for Alaska. Alaska Sea Grant College Program, Fairbanks, pp. 47–69.
- Caruso, F., Alonge, G., Bellia, G., De Domenico, E., Grammauta, R., Larosa, G., Mazzola, S., Riccobene, G., Pavan, G., Papale, E., Pellegrino, C., Pulvirenti, S., Sciacca, V., Simeone, F., Speziale, F., Viola, S., Buscaino, G., 2017. Long-term monitoring of dolphin biosonar activity in deep pelagic waters of the Mediterranean Sea. Sci. Rep. 7 (1), 4321.
- Claisse, J.T., Pondella, D.J., Love, M., Zahn, L.A., Williams, C.M., Williams, J.P., Bull, A.S., 2014. Oil platforms off California are among the most productive marine fish habitats globally. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. 111 (43), 15462–15467.
- CNR International, 2017. Ninian northern platform decommissioning report Jacket & Drill cuttings pile comparative assessment & appendices. P0005-BMT-PM-REP-00001-stakeholder version.
- Connelly, D.P., Copley, J.T., Murton, B.J., Stansfield, K., Tyler, P.A., German, C.R., Van Dover, C.L., Amon, D., Furlong, M., Grindlay, N., Hayman, N., Hühnerbach, V., Judge, M., Le Bas, T., McPhail, S., Meier, A., Nakamura, K., Nye, V., Pebody, M., Pedersen, R., Plouviez, S.,

Sands, C., Searle, R.C., Stevenson, P., Taws, S., Wilcox, S., 2012. Hydrothermal vent fields and chemosynthetic biota on the world's deepest seafloor spreading centre. Nat. Commun. 3, 1–9.

- Cordes, E., Jones, D., Schlacher, T., Amon, D., Bernardino, A., Brooke, S., Carney, R., DeLeo, D., Dunlop, K., Escobar-Briones, E., Gates, A., Génio, L., Gobin, J., Henry, L.-A., Herrera, S., Hoyt, S., Joye, S., Kark, S., Mestre, N., Metaxas, A., Pfeifer, S., Sink, K., Sweetman, A., Witte, U., 2016. Environmental impacts of the deep-water oil and gas industry: a review to guide management strategies. Front. Environ. Sci. 4, 58. https://doi.org/10.3389/fenvs.2016.00058.
- Cormell, D., 2012. A new tool in the subsea industry: the autonomous inspection vehicle (AIV). J. Aust. Petrol. Prod. Explor. Assoc. 52 (2), 659. https://doi.org/10.1071/AJ11073.
- Cripps, S.J., Aabel, J.P., 2002. Environmental and socio-economic impact assessment of Ekoreef, a multiple platform rigs-to-reefs development. ICES J. Mar. Sci. 59 (suppl), S300–S308.
- Cristini, L., Lampitt, R.S., Cardin, V., Delory, E., Haugan, P., O'Neill, N., Petihakis, G., Ruhl, H.A., 2016. Cost and value of multidisciplinary fixed-point ocean observatories. Mar. Policy 71, 138–146.
- Currie, D.R., Isaacs, L.R., 2005. Impact of exploratory offshore drilling on benthic communities in the Minerva gas field, Port Campbell, Australia. Mar. Environ. Res. 59 (3), 217–233.
- Danovaro, R., Carugati, L., Berzano, M., Cahill, A.E., Carvalho, S., Chenuil, A., Corinaldesi, C., Cristina, S., David, R., Dell'Anno, A., Dzhembekova, N., Garcés, E., Gasol, J.M., Goela, P., Féral, J.-P., Ferrera, I., Forster, R.M., Kurekin, A.A., Rastelli, E., Marinova, V., Miller, P.I., Moncheva, S., Newton, A., Pearman, J.K., Pitois, S.G., Reñé, A., Rodríguez-Ezpeleta, N., Saggiomo, V., Simis, S.G.H., Stefanova, K., Wilson, C., Lo Martire, M., Greco, S., Cochrane, S.K.J., Mangoni, O., Borja, A., 2016. Implementing and innovating marine monitoring approaches for assessing marine environmental status. Front. Mar. Sci. 3.
- Davies, E.J., Nepstad, R., 2017. In situ characterisation of complex suspended particulates surrounding an active submarine tailings placement site in a Norwegian fjord. Reg. Stud. Mar. Sci. 16, 198–207.
- de Groot, S.J., 1982. The impact of laying and maintenance of offshore pipelines on the marine environment and the North Sea fisheries. Ocean Manag. 8, 1.
- DECC, 2011. Guidance Notes: Decommissioning of Offshore Oil and Gas Installations and Pipelines Under the Petroleum Act 1998. Aberdeen, Department of Energy and Climate Change.
- Delauney, L, Compère, C., Lehaitre, M., 2010. Biofouling protection for marine environmental sensors. Ocean Sci. 6, 503–511. https://doi.org/10.5194/os-6-503-2010.
- Dippner, J.W., Möller, C., Kröncke, I., 2014. Loss of persistence of the North Atlantic oscillation and its biological implication. Front. Ecol. Evol. 2.
- Doi, T., Takano, M., Okamura, K., Ura, T., Gamo, T., 2008. In-situ survey of nanomolar manganese in seawater using an autonomous underwater vehicle around a volcanic crater at Teishi knoll, Sagami Bay, Japan. J. Oceanogr. 64, 471.
- Dowdeswell, J.A., Evans, J., Mugford, R., Griffiths, G., McPhail, S.D., Millard, N., Stevenson, P., Brandon, M.A., Banks, C., Heywood, K.J., Price, M.R., Dodd, P.A., Jenkins, A., Nicholls, K.W., Hayes, D., Abrahamsen, E.P., Tyler, P.A., Bett, B., Jones, D.O.B., Wadhams, P., Wilkinson, J.P., Stansfield, K., Ackley, S., 2008. Instruments and methods: autonomous underwater vehicles (AUVs) and investigations of the iceocean interface: deploying the autosub AUV in Antarctic and Arctic waters. J. Glaciol. 54, 661–672.
- Dunlop, K.M., Jarvis, T., Benoit-Bird, K.J., Waluk, C.M., Caress, D.W., Thomas, H., Smith, K.L., 2018. Detection and characterisation of deep-sea benthopelagic animals from an autonomous underwater vehicle with a multibeam echosounder: A proof of concept and description of data-processing methods. Deep-Sea Res. I Oceanogr. Res. Pap. 134, 64–79.
- Dupré, S., Buffet, G., Mascle, J., Foucher, J.-P., Gauger, S., Boetius, A., Marfia, C., 2008. Highresolution mapping of large gas emitting mud volcanoes on the Egyptian continental margin (Nile Deep Sea fan) by AUV surveys. Mar. Geophys. Res. 29, 275–290.
- Durden, J.M., Schoening, T., Althaus, F., Friedman, A., Garcia, R., Glover, A., Greniert, J., Jacobsen Stout, N., Jones, D.O.B., Jordt-Sedlazeck, A., Kaeli, J.W., Koser, K., Kuhnz, L., Lindsay, D., Morris, K.J., Nattkemper, T.W., Osterloff, J., Ruhl, H.A., Singh, H., Tran, M., Bett, B.J., 2016. Perspectives in visual imaging for marine biology and ecology: from acquisition to understanding. Oceanogr. Mar. Biol. Annu. Rev. 54, 1–72.
- Dyer, M.F., Fry, W.G., Fry, P.D., Cranmer, G.J., 1983. Benthic regions within the North Sea. J. mar. biol. assoc. U.K. 63, 683-693.
- Ekins, P., Vanner, R., Firebrace, J., 2006. Decommissioning of offshore oil and gas facilities: A comparative assessment of different scenarios. J. Environ. Manag. 79 (4), 420–438. European Marine Board, 2017. Decommissioning of offshore man-made installations: tak-
- ing an ecosystem approach. EMB Policy Brief No. 3.
- Ferrari, R., Bryson, M., Bridge, T., Hustache, J., Williams, S.B., Byrne, M., Figueira, W., 2016. Quantifying the response of structural complexity and community composition to environmental change in marine communities. Glob. Chang. Biol. 22, 1965–1975.
- FLTC, 2018. UK Fisheries Offshore Oil and Gas Legacy Trust Fund Limited (FLTC) Website, Derogations so Far. https://www.ukfltc.com/derogations-so-far/, Accessed date: October 2018.
- Forteath, G.N.R., Picken, G.B., Ralph, R., Williams, J., 1982. Marine growth studies on the North Sea oil platform Montrose Alpha. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 8, 61–68.
- Fowler, A.M., Booth, D.J., 2012. Evidence of sustained populations of a small reef fish on artificial structures. Does depth affect production on artificial reefs? J. Fish Biol. 80 (3), 613–629.
- Fowler, A.M., Jørgensen, A.-M., Svendsen, J.C., Macreadie, P.I., Jones, D.O., Boon, A.R., Booth, D.J., Brabant, R., Callahan, E., Claisse, J.T., Dahlgren, T.G., Degraer, S., Dokken, Q.R., Gill, A.B., Johns, D.G., Leewis, R.J., Lindeboom, H.J., Linden, O., May, R., Murk, A.J., Ottersen, G., Schroeder, D.M., Shastri, S.M., Teilmann, J., Todd, V., Van Hoey, G., Vanaverbeke, J., Coolen, J.W., 2018. Environmental benefits of leaving offshore infrastructure in the ocean. Front. Ecol. Environ. 16 (10), 571–578.
- Frasier, K.E., Roch, M.A., Soldevilla, M.S., Wiggins, S.M., Garrison, L.P., Hildebrand, J.A., 2017. Automated classification of dolphin echolocation click types from the Gulf of Mexico. PLoS Comput. Biol. 13 (12), e1005823.

Fujii, T., 2015. Temporal variation in environmental conditions and the structure of fish assemblages around an offshore oil platform in the North Sea. Mar. Environ. Res. 108, 69–82.

Fujii, T., Jamieson, A.J., 2016. Fine-scale monitoring of fish movements and multiple environmental parameters around a decommissioned offshore oil platform: a pilot study in the North Sea. Ocean Eng. 126, 481–487.

Furlong, M.E., Paxton, D., Stevenson, P., Pebody, M., McPhail, S.D., Perrett, J., 2012. Autosub long range: a long range deep diving AUV for ocean monitoring, 2012 IEEE/OES autonomous underwater vehicles (AUV), pp. 1-7.

Galletti di Cadilhac, R., Brighenti, A., 2003. Docking systems. In: Griffiths, G. (Ed.), Technology and Applications of Autonomous Underwater Vehicles. Taylor and Francis, London, pp. 93–108.

Gass, S.E., Roberts, J.M., 2006. The occurrence of the cold-water coral *Lophelia pertusa* (Scleractinia) on oil and gas platforms in the North Sea: colony growth, recruitment and environmental controls on distribution. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 52, 549–559.

Gates, A.R., Jones, D.O.B., 2012. Recovery of benthic megafauna from anthropogenic disturbance at a hydrocarbon drilling well (380 m depth in the Norwegian sea). PLoS One 7 (10), e44114.

Gates, A.R., Benfield, M.C., Booth, D.J., Fowler, A.M., Skropeta, D., Jones, D.O.B., 2016. Deepsea observations at hydrocarbon drilling locations: contributions from the SERPENT project after 120 field visits. Deep-Sea Res. II Top. Stud. Oceanogr. 137, 463–479.

Gerrard, S., Grant, A., Marsh, R., London, C., 1999. Drill Cuttings Piles in the North Sea: Management Options During Platform Decommissioning, Centre for Environmental Risk Research Report no 31. University of East Anglia, p. 224.

Gillespie, D., Caillat, M., Gordon, J., White, P., 2013. Automatic detection and classification of odontocete whistles. J. Acoust. Soc. Am. 134, 2427–2437.

Glasby, T.M., Connell, S.D., Holloway, M.G., Hewitt, C.L., 2007. Nonindigenous biota on artificial structures: could habitat creation facilitate biological invasions? Mar. Biol. 151, 887–895.

Glud, R.N., 2008. Oxygen dynamics of marine sediments. Mar. Biol. Res. 4, 243-289.

Goebel, N.L., Frolov, S., Edwards, C.A., 2014. Complementary use of wave glider and satellite measurements: description of spatial decorrelation scales in Chl-*a* fluorescence across the Pacific basin. Methods Oceanogr. 10, 90–103.

Gormley, K., McLellan, F., McCabe, C., Hinton, C., Ferris, J., Kline, D., Scott, B., 2018. Automated image analysis of offshore infrastructure marine biofouling. J. Mar. Sci. Eng. 6, 2.

- Grasmueck, M., Eberli, G.P., Viggiano, D.A., Correa, T., Rathwell, G., Luo, J., 2006. Autonomous underwater vehicle (AUV) mapping reveals coral mound distribution, morphology, and oceanography in deep water of the straits of Florida. Geophys. Res. Lett. 33.
- Griffiths, G., Enoch, P., Millard, N.W., 2001. On the radiated noise of the autosub autonomous underwater vehicle. ICES J. Mar. Sci. 58, 1195–1200.
- Gröger, J.P., Kruse, G.H., Rohlf, N., 2010. Slave to the rhythm: how large-scale climate cycles trigger herring (Clupea harengus) regeneration in the North Sea. ICES J. Mar. Sci. 67, 454–465.

Grothues, T.M., Newhall, A.E., Lynch, J.F., Vogel, K.S., Gawarkiewicz, G.G., 2017. Highfrequency side-scan sonar fish reconnaissance by autonomous underwater vehicles. Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci. 74 (2), 240–255.

Guerneve, T., Petillot, Y., 2015. Underwater 3D reconstruction using BlueView imaging sonar. In: OCEANS 2015. IEEE, Geneva.

- Guihen, D., Fielding, S., Murphy, E.J., Heywood, K.J., Griffiths, G., 2014. An assessment of the use of ocean gliders to undertake acoustic measurements of zooplankton: the distribution and density of Antarctic krill (*Euphausia superba*) in the Weddell Sea. Limnol. Oceanogr. Methods 12, 373–389.
- Hartman, S.E., Lampitt, R.S., Larkin, K.E., Pagnani, M., Campbell, J., Gkritzalis, T., Jiang, Z.-P., Pebody, C.A., Ruhl, H.A., Gooday, A.J., Bett, B.J., Billett, D.S.M., Provost, P., McLachlan, R., Turton, J.D., Lankester, S., 2012. The porcupine abyssal plain fixed-point sustained observatory (PAP-SO): variations and trends from the Northeast Atlantic fixed-point time-series. ICES J. Mar. Sci. 69, 776–783.
- Harvey, J.B.J., Ryan, J.P., Marin, R., Preston, C.M., Alvarado, N., Scholin, C.A., Vrijenhoek, R.C., 2012. Robotic sampling, in situ monitoring and molecular detection of marine zooplankton. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 413, 60–70.

Heip, C., Craeymeersch, J.A., 1995. Benthic community structures in the North Sea. Helgoländer Meeresun. 49, 313–328.

Henry L-A., Harries D., Kingston P. and Roberts J.M. (2017) Historic scale and persistence of drill cuttings impacts on North Sea benthos. Marine environmental research, 129 (supplement C), 219-228.

Hiddink, J.G., Burrows, M.T., García Molinos, J., 2015. Temperature tracking by North Sea benthic invertebrates in response to climate change. Glob. Chang. Biol. 21, 117–129.

Hildebrand, J.A., Baumann-Pickering, S., Frasier, K.E., Trickey, J.S., Merkens, K.P., Wiggins, S.M., McDonald, M.A., Garrison, L.P., Harris, D., Marques, T.A., Thomas, L., 2015. Passive acoustic monitoring of beaked whale densities in the Gulf of Mexico. Sci. Rep. 5, 16343.

Horton, T., Kroh, A., Ahyong, S., Bailly, N., Boyko, C.B., Brandão, S.N., Costello, M.J., Gofas, S., Hernandez, F., Holovachov, O., Mees, J., Paulay, G., Rosenberg, G., Decock, W., Dekeyzer, S., Lanssens, T., Vandepitte, L., Vanhoorne, B., Verfaille, K., Adlard, R., Adriaens, P., Agatha, S., Ahn, K.J., Akkari, N., Alvarez, B., Anderson, G., Angel, M., Arango, C., Artois, T., Atkinson, S., Bank, R., Barber, A., Barbosa, J.P., Bartsch, I., Bellan-Santini, D., Bernot, J., Berta, A., Bieler, R., Blanco, S., Blasco-Costa, I., Blazewicz, M., Bock, P., Böttger-Schnack, R., Bouchet, P., Boury-Esnault, N., Boxshall, G., Bray, R., Breure, B., Bruce, N.L., Cairns, S., Campinas Bezerra, T.N., Cárdenas, P., Carstens, E., Chan, B.K., Chan, T.Y., Cheng, L., Churchill, M., Coleman, C.O., Collins, A.G., Corbari, L., Cordeiro, R., Cornils, A., Coste, M., Crandall, K.A., Cremonte, F., Cribb, T., Cutmore, S., Dahdouh-Guebas, F., Daly, M., Daneliya, M., Dauvin, J.C., Davie, P., De Broyer, C., De Grave, S., de Mazancourt, V., de Voogd, N., Decker, P., Decraemer, W., Defaye, D., d'Hondt, J.L., Dijkstra, H., Dohrmann, M., Dolan, J., Domning, D., Downey, R., Drapun, I., Ector, L., Eisendle-Flöckner, U., Eitel, M., Encarnação, S.C.D., Enghoff, H., Epler, J., Ewers-Saucedo, C., Faber, M., Feist, S., Figueroa, D., Finn, J., Fišer, C., Fordyce, E., Foster, W., Frank, J.H., Fransen, C., Furuya, H., Galea, H., Garcia-Alvarez, O., Garic, R., Gasca, R.,

Gaviria-Melo, S., Gerken, S., Gheerardyn, H., Gibson, D., Gil, J., Gittenberger, A., Glasby, C., Glover, A., Gómez-Noguera, S.E., González-Solís, D., Gordon, D., Grabowski, M., Gravili, C., Guerra-García, J.M., Guidetti, R., Guiry, M.D., Hadfield, K.A., Hajdu, E., Hallermann, J., Havward, B., Hendrycks, E., Herbert, D., Herrera Bachiller, A., Ho, I.S., Hodda, M., Høeg, I., Hoeksema, B., Hooper, I., Houart, R., Hughes, J., Hyžný, M., Injesta, L.F.M., Iseto, T., Ivanenko, S., Iwataki, M., Janssen, R., Jarms, G., Jaume, D., Jazdzewski, K., Ióźwiak, P., Kantor, Y., Karanovic, I., Karthick, B., Kim, Y.H., King, R., Kirk, P.M., Klautau. M., Kociolek, I.P., Köhler, F., Kolb, J., Kotov, A., Kremenetskaia, A., Kristensen, R., Kulikovskiy, M., Kullander, S., Lambert, G., Lazarus, D., Le Coze, F., LeCroy, S., Leduc, D., Lefkowitz, E.J., Lemaitre, R., Liu, Y., Lörz, A.N., Lowry, J., Ludwig, T., Lundholm, N., Macpherson, E., Madin, L., Mah, C., Mamo, B., Mamos, T., Manconi, R., Mapstone, G., Marek, P.E., Marshall, B., Marshall, D.J., Martin, P., McInnes, S., Meidla, T., Meland, K., Merrin, K., Mesibov, R., Messing, C., Miljutin, D., Mills, C., Moestrup, Ø., Mokievsky, V., Molodtsova, T., Monniot, F., Mooi, R., Morandini, A.C., Moreira da Rocha, R., Moretzsohn, F., Mortelmans, J., Mortimer, J., Musco, L., Neubauer, T.A., Neubert, E., Neuhaus, B., Ng, P., Nguyen, A.D., Nielsen, C., Nishikawa, T., Norenburg, J., O'Hara, T., Opresko, D., Osawa, M., Ota, Y., Páll-Gergely, B., Patterson, D., Paxton, H., Peña Santiago, R., Perrier, V., Perrin, W., Petrescu, I., Picton, B., Pilger, J.F., Pisera, A., Polhemus, D., Poore, G., Potapova, M., Pugh, P., Read, G., Reich, M., Reimer, J.D., Reip, H., Reuscher, M., Reynolds, J.W., Richling, I., Rimet, F., Ríos, P., Rius, M., Rogers, D.C., Rützler, K., Sabbe, K., Saiz-Salinas, J., Sala, S., Santos, S., Sar, E., Sartori, A.F., Satoh, A., Saucède, T., Schatz, H., Schierwater, B., Schmidt-Rhaesa, A., Schneider, S., Schönberg, C., Schuchert, P., Senna, A.R., Serejo, C., Shaik, S., Shamsi, S., Sharma, J., Shear, W.A., Shenkar, N., Shinn, A., Short, M., Sicinski, J., Sierwald, P., Simmons, E., Sinniger, F., Sivell, D., Sket, B., Smit, H., Smit, N., Smol, N., Souza-Filho, J.F., Spelda, J., Sterrer, W., Stienen, E., Stoev, P., Stöhr, S., Strand, M., Suárez-Morales, E., Summers, M., Suttle, C., Swalla, B.J., Taiti, S., Tanaka, M., Tandberg, A.H., Tang, D., Tasker, M., Taylor, J., Taylor, J., Tchesunov, A., ten Hove, H., ter Poorten, J.J., Thomas, J., Thuesen, E.V., Thurston, M., Thuy, B., Timi, J.T., Timm, T., Todaro, A., Turon, X., Tyler, S., Uetz, P., Uribe-Palomino, J., Utevsky, S., Vacelet, J., Vachard, D., Vader, W., Väinölä, R., Van de Vijver, B., van der Meij, S.E., van Haaren, T., van Soest, R., Vanreusel, A., Venekey, V., Vinarski, M., Vonk, R., Vos, C., Walker-Smith, G., Walter, T.C., Watling, L., Wayland, M., Wesener, T., Wetzel, C., Whipps, C., White, K., Williams, D., Williams, G., Wilson, R., Witkowski, A., Witkowski, J., Wyatt, N., Wylezich, C., Xu, K., Zanol, J., Zeidler, W., Zhao, Z., 2019. World Register of Marine Species (WoRMS) (WoRMS Editorial Board).

Howe, B.M., Duennebier, F.K., Lukas, R., 2015. The ALOHA cabled observatory. Pages 439–463 Seafloor Observatories: A New Vision of the Earth From the Abyss. Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg.

Hughes Clarke, J.E., Lamplugh, M., Czotter, K., 2006. Multibeam water column imaging: Improved wreck least-depth determination. Canadian Hydrographic Conference, May 2006. Canada, Halifax.

Huvenne, V.A.I., Bett, B.J., Masson, D.G., Le Bas, T.P., Wheeler, A.J., 2016a. Effectiveness of a deep-sea cold-water coral marine protected area, following eight years of fisheries closure. Biol. Conserv. 200, 60–69.

- Huvenne, V.A.I., Georgiopoulou, A., Chaumillon, L., Lo Iacono, C., Wynn, R.B., 2016b. Novel method to map the morphology of submarine landslide headwall scarps using remotely operated vehicles. In: Lamarche, G., Mountjoy, J., Bull, S., Hubble, T., Krastel, S., Lane, E., Micallef, A., Moscardelli, L., Mueller, C., Pecher, I., Woelz, S. (Eds.), Submarine Mass Movements and Their Consequences, 7th International Symposium. Springer, Heidelberg, pp. 135–144.
- Huvenne, V.A.I., Robert, K., Marsh, L., Lo Iacono, C., Le Bas, T.P., Wynn, R.B., 2018. ROVs and AUVs. In: Micallef, A., Krastel, S., Savini, A. (Eds.), Submarine Geomorphology. Springer Verlag, Heidelberg, pp. 93–108.
- Ibe, A.C., Kullenberg, G., 1995. Quality assurance/quality control (QA/QC) regime in marine pollution monitoring programmes: the GIPME perspective. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 31 (4), 209–213.

Innangi, S., Bonanno, A., Tonielli, R., Gerlotto, F., Innangi, M., Mazzola, S., 2016. High resolution 3-D shapes of fish schools: a new method to use the water column backscatter from hydrographic MultiBeam Echo sounders. Appl. Acoust. 111, 148–160.

IOC, 2018. Revised Roadmap for the UN Decade of Ocean Science for Sustainable Development. UNESCO, Paris https://en.unesco.org/ocean-decade/resources.

- Jenkins, A., Dutrieux, P., Jacobs, S.S., McPhail, S.D., Perrett, J.R., Webb, A.T., White, D., 2010. Observations beneath Pine Island glacier in West Antarctica and implications for its retreat. Nat. Geosci. 3, 468.
- Johnson-Roberson, M., Pizarro, O., Williams, S.B., Mahon, I., 2010. Generation and visualization of large-scale three-dimensional reconstructions from underwater robotic surveys. J. Field Rob. 27, 21–51.

Jones, D.O.B., McPhail, S.D., Bett, B.J., Flewellen, C., Conquer, M., 2005. Seabed photography from an autonomous underwater vehicle. J. Mar. Sci. Environ. C3, 29–36.

Jones, D.O.B., Hudson, I.R., Bett, B.J., 2006. Effects of physical disturbance on the cold-water megafaunal communities of the Faroe-Shetland Channel. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 319, 43–54.

Jones, D.O.B., Wigham, B.D., Hudson, I.R., Bett, B.J., 2007. Anthropogenic disturbance of deep-sea megabenthic assemblages: a study with Remotely-Operated Vehicles in the Faroe-Shetland Chanel, NE Atlantic. Mar. Biol. 151, 1731–1741.

Jones, D.O.B., Gates, A., Lausen, B., 2012. Recovery of deep-water megafaunal assemblages from hydrocarbon drilling disturbance in the Faroe-Shetland Channel. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 461, 71–82.

Jones, D.O.B., Walls, A., Clare, M., Fiske, M.S., Weiland, R.J., O'Brien, R., Touzel, D.F., 2014. Asphalt mounds and associated biota on the Angolan margin. Deep-Sea Res. I Oceanogr. Res. Pap. 94, 124–136.

Jørgensen, D., 2012. OSPAR's exclusion of rigs-to-reefs in the North Sea. Ocean Coast. Manag. 58, 57-61.

Jung, Y.-S., Lee, K.-W., Lee, S.-Y., Choi, M.H., Lee, B.-H., 2009. An efficient underwater coverage method for multi-AUV with sea current disturbances. Int. J. Control. Autom. Syst. 7 (4), 615–629.

- Juniper, S.K., Matabos, M., Mihály, S., Ajayamohan, R.S., Gervais, F., Bui, A.O.V., 2013. A year in Barkley canyon: a time-series observatory study of mid-slope benthos and habitat dynamics using the NEPTUNE Canada network. Deep-Sea Res. Pt. II 92, 114–123.
- Kaiser, M.J., 1998. Significance of bottom-fishing disturbance. Conserv. Biol. 12, 1230–1235.
- Kaiser, M.J., Pulsipher, A.G., 2005. Rigs-to-reef programs in the Gulf of Mexico. Ocean Dev. Int. Law 36, 119–134.
- Kannappan, P., Walker, J.H., Trembanis, A., Tanner, H.G., 2014. Identifying sea scallops from benthic camera images. Limnol. Oceanogr. Methods 12, 680–693.
- Kissling, W.D., Walls, R., Bowser, A., Jones, M.O., Kattge, J., Agosti, D., Amengual, J., Basset, A., van Bodegom, P.M., Cornelissen, J.H.C., Denny, E.G., Deudero, S., Egloff, W., Elmendorf, S.C., Alonso García, E., Jones, K.D., Jones, O.R., Lavorel, S., Lear, D., Navarro, L.M., Pawar, S., Pirzl, R., Rüger, N., Sal, S., Salguero-Gómez, R., Schigel, D., Schulz, K.-S., Skidmore, A., Guralnick, R.P., 2018. Towards global data products of essential biodiversity variables on species traits. Nat. Ecol. Evol. 2 (10), 1531–1540.
- Klinck, H., Mellinger, D.K., 2011. The energy ratio mapping algorithm: a tool to improve the energy-based detection of odontocete echolocation clicks. J. Acoust. Soc. Am. 129, 1807–1812.
- Klinck, H., Mellinger, D.K., Klinck, K., Bogue, N.M., Luby, J.C., Jump, W.A., Shilling, G.B., Litchendorf, T., Wood, A.S., Schorr, G.S., Baird, R.W., 2012. Near-real-time acoustic monitoring of beaked whales and other cetaceans using a Seaglider™. PLoS One 7, e36128.
- Korneliussen, R.J., Heggelund, Y., Macaulay, G.J., Patel, D., Johnsen, E., Eliassen, I.K., 2016. Acoustic identification of marine species using a feature library. Methods Oceanogr. 17, 187–205.
- Kukulya, A.L., Bellingham, J.G., Kaeli, J.W., Reddy, C.M., Godin, M.A., Conmy, R.N., 2016. Development of a propeller driven long range autonomous underwater vehicle (LRAUV) for under-ice mapping of oil spills and environmental hazards: an Arctic Domain Center of Awareness project (ADAC). 2016 IEEE/OES autonomous underwater vehicles (AUV), pp. 95-100.
- Kwasnitschka, T., Köser, K., Sticklus, J., Rothenbeck, M., Weiß, T., Wenzlaff, E., Schoening, T., Triebe, L., Steinführer, A., Devey, C., Greinert, J., 2016. DeepSurveyCam—a deep ocean optical mapping system. Sensors 16, 164.
- Lampitt, R.S., Boorman, B., Brown, L., Lucas, M., Salter, I., Sanders, R., Saw, K., Seeyave, S., Thomalla, S.J., Turnewitsch, R., 2008. Particle export from the euphotic zone: estimates using a novel drifting sediment trap, 234Th and new production. Deep-Sea Res. Pt. 1 55, 1484–1502.
- Langenkämper, D., Zurowietz, M., Schoening, T., Nattkemper, T.W., 2017. BIIGLE 2.0 browsing and annotating large marine image collections. Frontiers in marine science 4.
- Laurent, D., Kada, B., Mathieu, D., Bertrand, F., Michel, P. Giovanni, P., Faimali, M., 2017. Optimized and high efficiency biofouling protection for oceanographic optical devices. OCEANS 2017 - Aberdeen, Aberdeen, pp. 1-14.
- Leighton, T.G., White, P.R., 2012. Quantification of undersea gas leaks from carbon capture and storage facilities, from pipelines and from methane seeps, by their acoustic emissions. Proc. R. Soc. A: Math. Phys. Eng. Sci. 468 (2138), 485–510.
- Leonard, J.J., Bahr, A., 2016. Autonomous underwater vehicle navigation. In: Dhanak, M.R., Xiros, N.I. (Eds.), Springer Handbook of Ocean Engineering. Springer International Publishing, Cham, pp. 341–358.
- Liblik, T., Karstensen, J., Testor, P., Alenius, P., Hayes, D., Ruiz, S., Heywood, K.J., Pouliquen, S., Mortier, L., Mauri, E., 2016. Potential for an underwater glider component as part of the Global Ocean observing system. Methods Oceanogr. 17, 50–82.
- Liljebäck, P., and R. Mills. 2017. Eelume: a flexible and subsea resident IMR vehicle. Proceedings of OCEANS 2017 conference. 19-22 June 2017. Aberdeen. 1-4.
- Lin, T.-H., Yu, H.-Y., Chen, C.-F., Chou, L.-S., 2015. Passive acoustic monitoring of the temporal variability of odontocete tonal sounds from a long-term marine observatory. PLoS One 10, e0123943.
- Love, M.S., York, A., 2005. A comparison of the fish assemblages associated with an oil/gas pipeline and adjacent seafloor in the Santa Barbara Channel, southern California bight. Bull. Mar. Sci. 77 (1), 101–117.
- Lu, H., Li, Y., Zhang, Y., Chen, M., Serikawa, S., Kim, H., 2017. Underwater optical image processing: a comprehensive review. Mobile Networks and Applications 22, 1204–1211.
- Lüdtke, A., Jerosch, K., Herzog, O., Schlüter, M., 2012. Development of a machine learning technique for automatic analysis of seafloor image data: case example, Pogonophora coverage at mud volcanoes. Comput. Geosci. 39, 120–128.
- Macreadie, P.I., Fowler, A.M., Booth, D.J., 2011. Rigs-to-reefs: will the deep sea benefit from artificial habitat? Front. Ecol. Environ. 9, 455–461.
- Macreadie, P.I., McLean, D.L., Thomson, P.G., Partridge, J.C., Jones, D.O.B., Gates, A.R., Benfield, M.C., Collin, S.P., Booth, D.J., Smith, L.L., Techera, E., Skropeta, D., Horton, T., Pattiaratchi, C., Bond, T., Fowler, A.M., 2018. Eyes in the sea: unlocking the mysteries of the ocean using industrial, remotely operated vehicles (ROVs). Sci. Total Environ. 634, 1077–1091.
- Martin Taylor, S., 2009. Transformative ocean science through the VENUS and NEPTUNE Canada ocean observing systems. Nucl. Instrum. Methods Phys. Res., Sect. A 602, 63–67.
- Martin, L., Sortland, B., Johnsen, G., Singh, H., 2007. Applications of Geo-Referenced Underwater Photo Mosaics in Marine Biology and Archaeology. Oceanography 20.
- Massot-Campos, M., Oliver-Codina, G., 2015. Optical sensors and methods for underwater 3D reconstruction. Sensors (Basel, Switzerland) 15, 31525-31557.
- Matsuda, T., Maki, T., Sato, Y., Sakamaki, T., Ura, T., 2017. Alternating landmark navigation of multiple AUVs for wide seafloor survey: field experiment and performance verification. J. Field Robot. 35, 359–395. https://doi.org/10.1002/rob.21742.
- McGill, P.R., Sherman, A.D., Hobson, B.W., Henthorn, R.G., Smith, J.K.L., 2009. Initial deployments of the rover, an autonomous bottom-transecting instrument platform. J. Ocean Technol. 4, 9–26.
- McLean, D.L., Partridge, J.C., Bond, T., Birt, M.J., Bornt, K.R., Langlois, T.J., 2017. Using industry ROV videos to assess fish associations with subsea pipelines. Cont. Shelf Res. 141, 76–97.
- McQuillan, J.S., Robidart, J.C., 2017. Molecular-biological sensing in aquatic environments: recent developments and emerging capabilities. Curr. Opin. Biotechnol. 45, 43–50.

- Medhaug, I., Stolpe, M.B., Fischer, E.M., Knutti, R., 2017. Reconciling controversies about the 'global warming hiatus'. Nature 545, 41.
- Mellinger, D.K., Stafford, K.M., Moore, S.E., Dziak, R.P., Matsumoto, H., 2007. An overview of fixed passive acoustic observation methods for cetaceans. Oceanography 20, 36–45.
- Mellinger, D.K., Nieukirk, S.L., Heimlich, S.L., Fregosi, S., Küsel, E.T., Siderius, M., Sidorovskaia, N., 2017. Passive acoustic monitoring in the northern gulf of Mexico using ocean gliders. J. Acoust. Soc. Am. 142, 2533.
- Melvin, G.D., Cochrane, N.A., Li, Y., 2003. Extraction and comparison of acoustic backscatter from a calibrated multi- and single-beam sonar. ICES J. Mar. Sci. 60, 669–677.
- Merchant, N.D., Pirotta, E., Barton, T.R., Thompson, P.M., 2014. Monitoring ship noise to assess the impact of coastal developments on marine mammals. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 78 (1), 85–95.
- Meredith, M.P., Schofield, O., Newman, L., Urban, E., Sparrow, M., 2013. The vision for a southern ocean observing system. Curr. Opin. Environ. Sustain. 5 (3–4), 306–313.
- Meyer, D. 2016. Glider technology for ocean observations: a review. Ocean Sci. Discuss. 2016:1–26.
- Meyer, D., Prien, R., Dellwig, O., Waniek, J., Schuffenhauer, I., Donath, J., Krüger, S., Pallentin, M., Schulz-Bull, D., 2016. A multi-pumping flow system for in situ measurements of dissolved manganese in aquatic systems. Sensors 16, 2027.
- Miloslavich, P., Bax, N.J., Simmons, S.E., Klein, E., Appeltans, W., Aburto-Oropeza, O., Andersen Garcia, M., Batten, S.D., Benedetti-Cecchi, L., Checkley, D.M., Chiba, S., Duffy, J.E., Dunn, D.C., Fischer, A., Gunn, J., Kudela, R., Marsac, F., Muller-Karger, F.E., Obura, D., Shin, Y.-J., 2018. Essential ocean variables for global sustained observations of biodiversity and ecosystem changes. Glob. Chang. Biol. 24, 2416–2433.
- Monk, J., Barrett, N.S., Hill, N.A., Lucieer, V.L., Nichol, S.L., Siwabessy, P.J.W., Williams, S.B., 2016. Outcropping reef ledges drive patterns of epibenthic assemblage diversity on cross-shelf habitats. Biodivers. Conserv. 25, 485–502.
- Monna, S., Falcone, G., Beranzoli, L., Chierici, F., Cianchini, G., De Caro, M., De Santis, A., Embriaco, D., Frugoni, F., Marinaro, G., Montuori, C., Pignagnoli, L., Qamili, E., Sgroi, T., Favali, P., 2014. Underwater geophysical monitoring for European multidisciplinary seafloor and water column observatories. J. Mar. Syst. 130, 12–30.
- Morris, K.J., Bett, B.J., Durden, J.M., Huvenne, V.A.I., Milligan, R., Jones, D.O.B., McPhail, S., Robert, K., Bailey, D.M., Ruhl, H.A., 2014. A new method for ecological surveying of the abyss using autonomous underwater vehicle photography. Limnol. Oceanogr. Methods 12, 795–809.
- Morris, K.J., Bett, B.J., Durden, J.M., Benoist, N.M.A., Huvenne, V.A.I., Jones, D.O.B., Robert, K., Ichino, M.C., Wolff, G.A., Ruhl, H.A., 2016. Landscape-scale spatial heterogeneity in phytodetrital cover and megafauna biomass in the abyss links to modest topographic variation. Sci. Rep. 6, 34080.
- MSFD, 2008. Directive 2008/56/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council of 17 June 2008 Establishing a Framework for Community Action in the Field of Marine Environmental Policy (Marine Strategy Framework Directive).
- Neff, J.M., 2005. Composition, Environmental Fates, and Biological Effect of Water Based Drilling Muds and Cuttings Discharged to the Marine Environment: A Synthesis and Annotated Bibliography. Petroleum Environmental Research Forum (PERF) and American Petroleum Institute. Duxbury, MA, p. 73.
- Netto, S.A., Gallucci, F., Fonseca, G., 2009. Deep-sea meiofauna response to syntheticbased drilling mud discharge off SE Brazil. Deep-Sea Research Part Ii-Topical Studies in Oceanography 56 (1–2), 41–49.
- Nightingale, A.M., Beaton, A.D., Mowlem, M.C., 2015. Trends in microfluidic systems for in situ chemical analysis of natural waters. Sensors Actuators B Chem. 221, 1398–1405.
- Nilssen, I., Bakke, T., 2011. Water column monitoring of offshore oil and gas activities on the Norwegian continental shelf: Past, present and future. In: Lee, K., Neff, J. (Eds.), Produced Water: Environmental Risks and Advances in Mitigation Technologies. Springer New York, New York, NY, pp. 431–439.
- Nishida, Y., Nagahashi, K., Sato, T., Bodenmann, A., Thornton, B., Asada, A., Ura, T., 2016. Autonomous underwater vehicle "BOSS-A" for acoustic and visual survey of manganese crusts. J. Rob. Mechatronics 28, 91–94.
- Ohman, M.D., Rudnick, D.L., Chekalyuk, A., Davis, R.E., Feely, R.A., Kahru, M., Kim, H.-J., Landry, M.R., Martz, T.R., Sabine, C.L., Send, U.W.E., 2013. Autonomous ocean measurements in the California current ecosystem. Oceanography 26, 18–25.
- Oil and Gas UK, 2013. Decommissioning of Pipelines in the North Sea Region, Aberdeen, Oil and Gas UK. 48 pp.
- Oil and Gas UK, 2014. Economic Report 2014. Aberdeen, The UK Oil and Gas Industry Association. 104 pp.
- Osterloff, J., Nilssen, I., Nattkemper, T.W., 2016. Computational coral feature monitoring for the fixed underwater observatory LoVe. Oceans 2016 MTS/IEEE Monterey, Monterey, CA, 2016, pp. 1-5.
- Owen, P., Rice, T., 2003. Decommissioning the Brent Spar. CRC Press, London.
- Pai S., 2015. Autonomous Marine Vehicle: A cost effective technology to manage risk in exploration and production. SPE Annual Technical Conference and Exhibition. Houston: Society of Petroleum Engineers, pp SPE_174924.
- Paull, L., Saeedi, S., Seto, M., Li, H., 2014. AUV navigation and localization: a review. IEEE J. Ocean. Eng. 39, 131–149.
- Pearce, B., Farinas-Franco, J.M., Wilson, C., Pitts, J., deBurgh, A., Somerfield, P.J., 2014. Repeated mapping of reefs constructed by *Sabellaria spinulosa* Leukart 1849 at an offshore wind farm site. Cont. Shelf Res. 83, 3–13.
- Pedersen, O.P., Gaardsted, F., Lågstad, P., Tande, K.S., 2010. On the use of the HUGIN 1000 HUS autonomous underwater vehicle for high resolution zooplankton measurements. J. Oper. Oceanogr. 3, 17–25.
- Pennington, J.T., Blum, M., Chavez, F.P., 2016. Seawater sampling by an autonomous underwater vehicle: "gulper" sample validation for nitrate, chlorophyll, phytoplankton, and primary production. Limnol. Oceanogr. Methods 14 (1), 14–23.
- Petersen, W., 2014. FerryBox systems: state-of-the-art in Europe and future development. J. Mar. Syst. 140, 4–12.

Peterson, A.K., Fer, I., 2014. Dissipation measurements using temperature microstructure from an underwater glider. Methods Oceanogr. 10, 44–69.

- Phillips, A.B., Gold, N., Linton, N., Harris, C.A., Richards, E., Templeton, R., Thuné, S., Sitbon, J., Muller, M., Vincent, I., Sloane, T., 2017. Agile design of low-cost autonomous underwater vehicles. OCEANS 2017 - Aberdeen. Aberdeen 2017, 1–7.
- Phillips, A.B., Salavasidis, G., Kingsland, M., Harris, C., Pebody, M., Roper, D., Templeton, R., McPhail, S., Prampart, T., Wood, T., 2018. Autonomous Surface/Subsurface Survey System Field Trials. in 2018 IEEE/OES Autonomous Underwater Vehicles Symposium, Porto.
- Pizarro, O., Friedman, A., Bryson, M., Williams, S.B., Madin, J., 2017. A simple, fast, and repeatable survey method for underwater visual 3D benthic mapping and monitoring. Ecology and Evolution 7, 1770–1782.
- Porter, D.E., Small, T., White, D., Fletcher, M., Norman, A., Swain, D., Friedmann, J., 2004. Data management in support of environmental monitoring, research, and coastal management. J. Coast. Res. 9–16.
- Purser, A., Thomsen, L., Barnes, C., Best, M., Chapman, R., Hofbauer, M., Menzel, M., Wagner, H., 2013. Temporal and spatial benthic data collection via an internet operated Deep Sea Crawler. Methods Oceanogr. 5, 1–18.
- Pyo, J., Yu, S.C., 2016. Development of AUV (MI) for strong ocean current and zerovisibility condition. 2016 IEEE/OES Autonomous Underwater Vehicles (AUV) 54–57. Qiao, G., Babar, Z., Ma, L., Liu, S., Wu, J., 2017. MIMO-OFDM underwater acoustic commu-
- Qiao, G., Babar, Z., Ma, L., Liu, S., Wu, J., 2017. MIMO-OFDM underwater acoustic communication systems—a review. Phys. Commun. 23, 56–64. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. phycom.2017.02.007.
- Quigel, J.C., Thornton, W.L., 1989. Rigs to reefs a case history. Bull. Mar. Sci. 44, 799–806. Randeni, P.S., Forrest, A., Cossu, R., Leong, Z., Ranmuthugala, D., 2017. Determining the horizontal and vertical water velocity components of a turbulent water column
- using the motion response of an autonomous underwater vehicle. Journal of Marine Science and Engineering 5, 25. Reed, B., Hover, F., 2014. Oceanographic pursuit: networked control of multiple vehicles
- tracking dynamic ocean features. Methods Oceanogr. 10, 21–43.
- Robert, K., Jones, D.O.B., Huvenne, V.A.I., 2014. Megafaunal distribution and biodiversity in a heterogeneous landscape: the iceberg-scoured Rockall Bank, NE Atlantic. Mar. Ecol. Prog. Ser. 501, 67–88.
- Robert, K., Huvenne, V.A.I., Georgiopoulou, A., Jones, D.O.B., Marsh, L., Carter, G.D.O., Chaumillon, L., 2017. New approaches to high-resolution mapping of marine vertical structures. Nat. Sci. Rep. 7, 9005.
- Roch, M.A., Batchelor, H., Baumann-Pickering, S., Berchok, C.L., Cholewiak, D., Fujioka, E., Garland, E.C., Herbert, S., Hildebrand, J.A., Oleson, E.M., Van Parijs, S., Risch, D., Širović, A., Soldevilla, M.S., 2016. Management of acoustic metadata for bioacoustics. Ecological Informatics 31, 122–136.
- Rolin, J. F., Y. Aoustin, Y. Auffret, J. Blandin, L. Delauney, R. Person, and I. Puillat-Felix. 2011. Scientific specifications, common and complementary developments for deep sea and coastal fixed point multidisciplinary cabled observatories. Pages 1–5 in 2011 IEEE Symposium on Underwater Technology and Workshop on Scientific Use of Submarine Cables and Related Technologies.
- Roper, D.T., Phillips, A.B., Harris, C.A., Salavasidis, G., Pebody, M., Templeton, R., Amma, S.V.S., Smart, M. and McPhail, S., 2017, June. Autosub long range 1500: An ultraendurance AUV with 6000 Km range. Pages 1–5 in OCEANS 2017-Aberdeen.
- Ross, T., Craig, S.E., Comeau, A., Davis, R., Dever, M., Beck, M., 2017. Blooms and subsurface phytoplankton layers on the Scotian shelf: insights from profiling gliders. J. Mar. Syst. 172, 118–127.
- Rouse, S., Kafas, A., Catarino, R., Peter, H., 2018. Commercial fisheries interactions with oil and gas pipelines in the North Sea: considerations for decommissioning. ICES J. Mar. Sci. 75 (1), 279–286.
- Rudnick, D.L., 2016. Ocean research enabled by underwater gliders. Annu. Rev. Mar. Sci. 8 (1), 519–541.
- Rudnick, D.L., Davis, R.E., Eriksen, C.C., Fratantoni, D.M., Perry, M.J., 2004. Underwater gliders for ocean research. Mar. Technol. Soc. J. 38, 73–84.
- Ruhl, H.A., André, M., Beranzoli, L., Namik Çagatay, M., Colaço, A., Cannat, M., Dañobeitia, J.J., Favali, P., Géli, L., Gillooly, M., Greinert, J., Hall, P.O.J., Huber, R., Karstensen, J., Lampitt, R.S., Larkin, K.E., Lykousis, V., Mienert, J., Miguel Miranda, J., Person, R., Priede, I.G., Puillat, I., Thomsen, L., Waldmann, C., 2011. Societal need for improved understanding of climate change, anthropogenic impacts, and geo-hazard warning drive development of ocean observatories in European seas. Prog. Oceanogr. 91, 1–33.
- Russell, D.J.F., Brasseur, S.M.J.M., Thompson, D., Hastie, G.D., Janik, V.M., Aarts, G., McClintock, B.T., Matthiopoulos, J., Moss, S.E.W., McConnell, B., 2014. Marine mammals trace anthropogenic structures at sea. Curr. Biol. 24, R638–R639.
- Ryan, J.P., Zhang, Y., Thomas, H., Rienecker, E.V., Nelson, R.K., Cummings, S.R., 2011. A high-resolution survey of a deep hydrocarbon plume in the Gulf of Mexico during the 2010 Macondo blowout. In: Liu, Y., Macfadyon, A., Zhen-Gang, J., Weisberg, R.H. (Eds.), Monitoring and Modeling the Deepwater Horizon Oil Spill: A Record-Breaking Enterprise. American Geophysical Union.
- Salavasidis, G., Munafo, A., Harris, C.A., Prampart, T., Templeton, R., Smart, M., Roper, D.T., Pebody, M., McPhail, S.D., Rogers, E., Phillips, A.B., 2018. Terrain-aided navigation for long-endurance and deep-rated autonomous underwater vehicles. J. Field Robot. 1–28. Sandberg, P., 1996. Durability of Concrete in Saline Environment. Cementa, (206 pp).
- Schlüter, M., Gentz, T., 2008. Application of membrane inlet mass spectrometry for online
- and in situ analysis of methane in aquatic environments. J. Am. Soc. Mass Spectrom. 19, 1395–1402.
- Schoening, T., Bergmann, M., Ontrup, J., Taylor, J., Dannheim, J., Gutt, J., Purser, A., Nattkemper, T.W., 2012. Semi-automated image analysis for the assessment of Megafaunal densities at the Arctic Deep-Sea observatory HAUSGARTEN. PLoS One 7, e38179.
- Schoening, T., Kuhn, T., Jones, D.O.B., Simon-Lledo, E., Nattkemper, T.W., 2016. Fully automated image segmentation for benthic resource assessment of poly-metallic nodules. Methods Oceanogr. 15-16, 78–89.

- Schroeder, D.M., Love, M.S., 2004. Ecological and political issues surrounding decommissioning of offshore oil facilities in the Southern California bight. Ocean Coast, Manag. 47 (1), 21–48.
- Shell UK Ltd, 2016. Brent field drill cuttings decommissioning technical document. A supporting document to the Brent field decommissioning Programme. Shell Report Number BDE-F-SUB-BA-5801-00001.
- Shell UK Ltd, 2017. Brent field decommissioning programmes. Shell Report Number BDE-F-GEN-AA-5880-00015, Submitted to the UK Department for Business. Strategy, Energy and Industrial.
- Shimmield, G.B., Breuer, E.R., Cummings, D.G., Peppe, O., Shimmield, T.M., 2000. Contaminant leaching from drill cuttings piles of the northern and Central North Sea: field results from the Beryl "A" cuttings pile. UKOOA Drill Cuttings Initiative - Research and Development Programme, Report 2 (2), 2.
- Showalter, S. 2004. The legal status of autonomous underwater vehicles. Mar. Technol. Soc. J. 38 (1), 80–83.
- Sigovini, M., Keppel, E., Tagliapietra, D., Isaac, N., 2016. Open nomenclature in the biodiversity era. Methods Ecol. Evol. 7, 1217–1225.
- Singh, H., Howland, J., Pizarro, O., 2004. Advances in large-area photomosaicking underwater. IEEE J. Ocean. Eng. 29, 872–886.
- Smith, K.L., Ruhl, H.A., Bett, B.J., Billett, D.S.M., Lampitt, R.S., Kaufmann, R.S., 2009. Climate, carbon cycling, and deep-ocean ecosystems. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. U. S. A. 106, 19211–19218.
- Smith, K.L., Jr., Sherman, A.D., Huffard, C.L., McGill, P.R., Henthorn, R., Von Thun, S., Ruhl, H.A., Kahru, M., Ohman, M.D., 2014. Large salp bloom export from the upper ocean and benthic community response in the abyssal Northeast Pacific: day to week resolution. Limnol. Oceanogr. 59, 745–757.Solan, M., Germano, J.D., Rhoads, D.C., Smith, C., Michaud, E., Parry, D., Wenzhofer, F.,
- SOIAH, M., Germano, J.D., Knoads, D.C., Smith, C., Michaud, E., Parry, D., Wenzhofer, F., Kennedy, B., Henriques, C., Battle, E., 2003. Towards a greater understanding of pattern, scale and process in marine benthic systems: a picture is worth a thousand worms. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 285-286, 313–338.
- Solan, M., Hauton, C., Godbold, J.A., Wood, C.L., Leighton, T.G., White, P., 2016. Anthropogenic sources of underwater sound can modify how sediment-dwelling invertebrates mediate ecosystem properties. Sci. Rep. 6, 20540.
- Soltwedel, T., Bauerfeind, E., Bergmann, M., Bracher, A., Budaeva, N., Busch, K., Cherkasheva, A., Fahl, K., Grzelak, K., Hasemann, C., Jacob, M., Kraft, A., Lalande, C., Metfies, K., Nöthig, E.-M., Meyer, K., Quéric, N.-V., Schewe, I., Włodarska-Kowalczuk, M., Klages, M., 2016. Natural variability or anthropogenically-induced variation? Insights from 15 years of multidisciplinary observations at the arctic marine LTER site HAUSGARTEN. Ecol. Indic. 65, 89–102.
- Suberg, L., Wynn, R.B., Kooij, J.v.d., Fernand, L., Fielding, S., Guihen, D., Gillespie, D., Johnson, M., Gkikopoulou, K.C., Allan, I.J., Vrana, B., Miller, P.I., Smeed, D., Jones, A.R., 2014. Assessing the potential of autonomous submarine gliders for ecosystem monitoring across multiple trophic levels (plankton to cetaceans) and pollutants in shallow shelf seas. Methods Oceanogr. 10, 70–89.
- Sumner, E.J., Peakall, J., Parsons, D.R., Wynn, R.B., Darby, S.E., Dorrell, R.M., McPhail, S.D., Perrett, J., Webb, A., White, D., 2013. First direct measurements of hydraulic jumps in an active submarine density current. Geophys. Res. Lett. 40, 5904–5908.
- Sverdrup, H.U., Johnson, M.W., Fleming, R.H., 1942. The Oceans: Their Physics, Chemistry, and General Biology. Prentice-Hall, New York.
- Sverdrup-Thygeson, J., Kelasidi, E., Pettersen, K.Y., Gravdahl, J.T., 2016. A control framework for biologically inspired underwater swimming manipulators equipped with thrusters. IFAC-PapersOnLine 49, 89–96.
- Swallow, J.C., 1955. A neutral-buoyancy float for measuring deep currents. Deep Sea Res. 3, 74–81.
- Thompson, D., Caress, D., Clague, D., Conlin, D., Harvey, J., Martin, E., Paduan, J., Paull, C., Ryan, J., Thomas, H., Zhang, Y., 2013. MBARI Dorado AUV's scientific results. OCEANS, San Diego, pp. 1–9.
- Thornton, B., Bodenmann, A., Pizarro, O., Williams, S.B., Friedman, A., Nakajima, R., Takai, K., Motoki, K., Watsuji, T.-o., Hirayama, H., Matsui, Y., Watanabe, H., Ura, T., 2016. Biometric assessment of deep-sea vent megabenthic communities using multi-resolution 3D image reconstructions. Deep-Sea Res. I Oceanogr. Res. Pap. 116, 200–219.
- Thorpe, S.A., 2012. On the biological connectivity of oil and gas platforms in the North Sea. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 64, 2770–2781.
- Todd, V.L.G., Pearse, W.D., Tregenza, N.C., Lepper, P.A., Todd, I.B., 2009. Diel echolocation activity of harbour porpoises (*Phocoena phocoena*) around North Sea offshore gas installations. ICES J. Mar. Sci. 66 (4), 734–745.
- Tornero, V., Hanke, G., 2016. Chemical contaminants entering the marine environment from sea-based sources: A review with a focus on European seas. Mar. Pollut. Bull. 112 (1), 17–38.
- Torres, L.G., Nieukirk, S.L., Lemos, L., Chandler, T.E., 2018. Drone up! Quantifying whale behavior from a new perspective improves observational capacity. Front. Mar. Sci. 5.
- Trannum, H.C., Nilsson, H.C., Schanning, M.T., Øxnevad, S., 2010. Effects of sedimentation from water-based drill cuttings and natural sediment on benthic macrofaunal community structure and ecosystem processes. J. Exp. Mar. Biol. Ecol. 383, 111–121.
- Trenkel, V.M., Berger, L., Bourguignon, S., Doray, M., Fablet, R., Massé, J., Mazauric, V., Poncelet, C., Quemener, G., Scalabrin, C., Villalobos, H., 2009. Overview of recent progress in fisheries acoustics made by Ifremer with examples from the Bay of Biscay. Aquat. Living Resour. 22, 433–445.
- Tubau, X., Paull, C.K., Lastras, G., Caress, D.W., Canals, M., Lundsten, E., Anderson, K., Gwiazda, R., Amblas, D., 2015. Submarine canyons of Santa Monica Bay, Southern California: variability in morphology and sedimentary processes. Mar. Geol. 365, 61–79.
- UK Oil and Gas Authority, 2016. A table of current UK platforms. Oil and Gas Authority Data Centre. Available from: https://www.ogauthority.co.uk/data-centre/data-down-loads-and-publications/infrastructure/.
- Urban, P., Köser, K., Greinert, J., 2017. Processing of multibeam water column image data for automated bubble/seep detection and repeated mapping. Limnol. Oceanogr. Methods 15, 1–21.

- Van der Schaar, M., André, M., Delory, E., Gillespie, D., Rolin, J.F., 2017. Deliverable 12.6: Passive acoustic monitoring from fixed platform observatories. Work Package 12: Research and Development of Critical Observatory Functions. FixO3: Fixed point Open Ocean Observatories http://www.fixo3.eu/deliverables/.
- Van Lancker, V., Baeye, M., 2015. Wave glider monitoring of sediment transport and dredge plumes in a shallow marine sandbank environment. PLoS One 10 (6), e0128948.
- Vardaro, M.F., Bagley, P.M., Bailey, D.M., Bett, B.J., Jones, D.O., Milligan, R.J., Priede, I.G., Risien, C.M., Rowe, G.T., Ruhl, H.A., 2013. A southeast Atlantic deep-ocean observatory: first experiences and results. Limnol. Oceanogr. Methods 11, 304–315.
- von Schuckmann, K., Le Traon, P.-Y., Smith, N., Pascual, A., Brasseur, P., Fennel, K., Djavidnia, S., Aaboe, S., Fanjul, E.A., Autret, E., Axell, L., Aznar, R., Benincasa, M., Bentamy, A., Boberg, F., Bourdallé-Badie, R., Nardelli, B.B., Brando, V.E., Bricaud, C., Breivik, L.-A., Brewin, R.J.W., Capet, A., Ceschin, A., Ciliberti, S., Cossarini, G., de Alfonso, M., de Pascual Collar, A., de Kloe, J., Deshayes, J., Desportes, C., Drévillon, M., Drillet, Y., Droghei, R., Dubois, C., Embury, O., Etienne, H., Fratianni, C., Lafuente, J.G., Sotillo, M.G., Garric, G., Gasparin, F., Gerin, R., Good, S., Gourrion, J., Grégoire, M., Greiner, E., Guinehut, S., Gutknecht, E., Hernandez, F., Hernandez, O., Høyer, J., Jackson, L., Jandt, S., Josey, S., Juza, M., Kennedy, J., Kokkini, Z., Korres, G., Kõuts, M., Lagemaa, P., Lavergne, T., le Cann, B., Legeais, J.-F., Lemieux-Dudon, B., Levier, B., Lien, V., Maljutenko, I., Manzano, F., Marcos, M., Marinova, V., Masina, S., Mauri, E., Mayer, M., Melet, A., Mélin, F., Meyssignac, B., Monier, M., Müller, M., Mulet, S., Naranjo, C., Notarstefano, G., Paulmier, A., Gomez, B.P., Gonzalez, I.P., Peneva, E., Perruche, C., Andrew Peterson, K., Pinardi, N., Pisano, A., Pardo, S., Poulain, P.-M., Raj, R.P., Raudsepp, U., Ravdas, M., Reid, R., Rio, M.-H., Salon, S., Samuelsen, A., Sammartino, M., Sammartino, S., Sandø, A.B., Santoleri, R., Sathyendranath, S., She, J., Simoncelli, S., Solidoro, C., Stoffelen, A., Storto, A., Szerkely, T., Tamm, S., Tietsche, S., Tinker, J., Tintore, J., Trindade, A., van Zanten, D., Vandenbulcke, L., Verhoef, A.,

Verbrugge, N., Viktorsson, L., von Schuckmann, K., Wakelin, S.L., Zacharioudaki, A., Zuo, H., 2018. Copernicus marine service ocean state report. J. Oper. Oceanogr. 11 (sup1), S1–S142.

- Wang, D., Lermusiaux, P.F.J., Haley, P.J., Eickstedt, D., Leslie, W.G., Schmidt, H., 2009. Acoustically focused adaptive sampling and on-board routing for marine rapid environmental assessment. J. Mar. Syst. 78, S393–S407.
- Wenzhöfer, F., Oguri, K., Middelboe, M., Turnewitsch, R., Toyofuku, T., Kitazato, H., Glud, R.N., 2016. Benthic carbon mineralization in hadal trenches: assessment by in situ O2 microprofile measurements. Deep-Sea Res. Pt. 1 116, 276–286.
- White, H.K., Conmy, R.N., MacDonald, I.R., Reddy, C.M., 2016. Methods of oil detection in response to the Deepwater Horizon oil spill. Oceanography 29 (3), 76–87.
- Willcox, J.S., Bellingham, J.G., Yanwu, Z., Baggeroer, A.B., 2001. Performance metrics for oceanographic surveys with autonomous underwater vehicles. IEEE J. Ocean. Eng. 26, 711–725.
- Williams, S.B., Pizarro, O., Webster, J.M., Beaman, R.J., Mahon, I., Johnson-Robertson, M., Bridge, T.C.I., 2010. Autonomous underwater vehicle-assisted surveying of drowned reefs on the shelf edge of the Great Barrier Reef, Australia. J. Field Robot. 27, 675–697.
- Wilson, T., Williams, S.B., 2018. Adaptive path planning for depth-constrained bathymetric mapping with an autonomous surface vessel. J. Field Robot. 35, 345–358. https:// doi.org/10.1002/rob.21718.
- Wynn, R.B., Huvenne, V.A.I., Le Bas, T.P., Murton, B.J., Connelly, D.P., Bett, B.J., Ruhl, H.A., Morris, K.J., Peakall, J., Parsons, D.R., Sumner, E.J., Darby, S.E., Dorrell, R.M., Hunt, J.E., 2014. Autonomous underwater vehicles (AUVs): their past, present and future contributions to the advancement of marine geoscience. Mar. Geol. 352, 451–468.
- Yoerger, D.R., Bradley, A.M., Walden, B.B., Singh, H., Bachmayer, R., 1998. Surveying a subsea lava flow using the autonomous benthic explorer (ABE). Int. J. Syst. Sci. 29, 1031–1044.